
CIVILIAN OFFICE OF POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY LOG#1057381 

SUMMARY REPORT OF INVESTIGATION' 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Date of Incident: 

Time of Incident: 

Location of Incident: 

Date of IPRA Notification: 

Time of IPRA Notification: 

September 27, 2012 

Approximately, 1:14 pm 

Chicago, 
IL 
September 27, 2012 

Approximately, 3:25 pm 

On September 27, 2012, Officers and went to the  
located at Street, to investigate alleged drug activity occurring on 

the premises. The officers handcuffed, detained, and/or arrested multiple young men. 

Officer was subsequently federally indicted, convicted, and sentenced to two (2) 
years in prison for punching and kicking one of the arrestees in the course of the 
September 27, 2012 incident. appealed his October 23, 2015 conviction, which was upheld 
by the Seventh Circuit on September 8, 2016. IPRA opened its investigation on September 27, 
2012. Upon notice of the criminal investigation, this investigation was held in abeyance through 
appeal.2 This investigation finds that Officer engaged in various acts in violation of 
Department policy, including but not limited to lying and obstructing an official investigation, as 
well as engaging in acts of excessive force, improper seizure and intimidation. 

II. INVOLVED PARTIES 

Involved Officer #1: 

Involved Officer #2: 

Subject #1: 

Subject #2: 

Star #  Employee #  Date of 
Appointment: , 2001, Police Officer, Date of Birth:  
, 1970, Male, Black 

Employee #  No longer a Department Member, 
Male, Black. 

Date of Birth: , 1983, Male, Black 

Date of Birth: , 1982, Male, Black 

'On September 15, 2017, the Civilian Office of Police Accountability (COPA) replaced the Independent Police 
Review Authority (IPRA) as the civilian oversight agency of the Chicago Police Department. Therefore, this 
investigation, which began under IPRA, was transferred to COPA on September 15, 2017, and the recommendations 
set forth herein are the recommendations of COPA. 
2 resigned from the CPD on March 16, 2016, effective March 17, 2016. Attachment 163. 
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III. ALLEGATIONS 

Officer Allegation Finding/ 
Recommendations 

Officer 1. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

detained without justification, in 
violation of Rule 6. 

2. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

detained without justification, 
in violation of Rule 6. 

3. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

failed to properly document interaction with 
in violation of Rule 6. 

4. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

failed to properly document interaction with 
in violation of Rule 6. 

5. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

engaged in unnecessary physical contact with 
in violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

6. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

engaged in unnecessary physical contact with 
in violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

7.It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

1. Sustained 

2. Sustained 

3. Sustained 

4. Sustained 

5. Sustained 

6. Sustained 

7. Sustained 
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and located at  
accused Officer  

attempted to intimidate in 
violation of Rules 8 and 9. 

8. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

attempted to intimidate in 
violation of Rules 8 and 9. 

9. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

grabbed and threw on the ground/in 
the street, in violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

10. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

directed profanities towards in 
violation of Rule 8. 

11. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

threatened to arrest in violation of 
Rules 2 and 8. 

12. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

struck about the body, in violation of 
Rules 6 and 9. 

13. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

slammed against a cooler, in 
violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

8. Sustained 

9. Not Sustained 

10. Sustained 

11. Exonerated 

12. Sustained 

13. Not Sustained 
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14. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

kicked in violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

15. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

falsely arrested in violation of Rule 
8. 

16. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

observed and/or had knowledge of misconduct 
on the part of another Department Member and 
failed to report it, in violation of Rule 22. 

17. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

brought discredit on the Department by your 
overall actions and conduct, in violation of 
Rule 2. 

18. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
an unknown time following the arrests of 

and at the  
District Station, located at  
accused Officer entered the 
holding cell and struck about the 
face, in violation of Rule 9. 

19. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
an unknown time following the arrests of 

and at the  
District Station, located at  
accused Officer poked  

in the eye, in violation of Rule 9. 

20. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
an unknown time following the arrests of 

and at the  
District Station, located at  

14. Sustained 

15. Sustained 

16. Sustained 

17. Sustained 

18. Not Sustained 

19. Not Sustained 

20. Unfounded 
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accused Officer observed 
and/or had knowledge of misconduct on the 
part of another Department Member and failed 
to report it, in violation of Rule 22. 

21. It is alleged that on September 28, 2012, at 
an unknown time during your tour, at the 
location of accused 
Officer attempted to obstruct a 
Department Administrative Investigation in 
that you went to obtain a copy of the security 
surveillance video from the  

for September 27, 2012, in 
violation of Rule 4. 

22. It is alleged that on September 28, 2012, at 
an unknown time during your tour, at the 
location of accused 
Officer observed and/or had 
knowledge of misconduct on the part of 
another Department Member and failed to 
report it, in violation of Rule 22. 

23. It is alleged that on September 28, 2012, at 
an unknown time during your tour, at the 
location of accused 
Officer brought discredit on 
the Department by your overall actions and 
conduct, in violation of Rule 2. 

24. It is alleged under oath in Officer  
testimony, on October 21, 2015, at 

the criminal trial of (Case 14 CR 
674-1), accused Officer gave 
false oral testimony regarding the purpose of 
his return to the  
on 28 September 2012, in that Attorney asked 
Officer "Was the purpose of you 
going back to the store to obtain the 
videotape?" Officer answered, "No," 
in violation of Rule 14. 

25. It is alleged under oath in Officer  
testimony, on October 21, 2015, at 

the criminal trial of (Case 14 CR 
674-1), accused Officer gave 
false oral testimony regarding when Officer 

recovered the handgun from  

21. Sustained 

22. Sustained 

23. Sustained 

24. Sustained 

25. Not Sustained 
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in that Attorney asked Officer 
"So by the time you come back into 

the store, Officer had already recovered 
the weapon?" Officer "Yes," in 
violation of Rule 14. 

26. It is alleged that in an interview to the 
Independent Police Review Authority dated 
March 22, 2016, at 1615W. Chicago Avenue, 
accused Officer gave false oral 
statement regarding the purpose of his return to 
the on 28 
September 2012, in that Investigator asked 
Officer "And, at no point, while you 
were there, on the 28th, did you ask anyone for 
any video?" Officer answered, "No, I 
did not," in violation of Rule 14. 

27. It is alleged that in an interview to the 
Independent Police Review Authority dated 
March 22, 2016, at 1615W. Chicago Avenue, 
accused Officer gave false oral 
statement regarding physical contact with  

inside the  
near the front entrance, in that Officer  
stated "So, I grabbed him and did a, like a 
takedown, swept under his feet, did a 
takedown, and guided him to the floor. I didn't 
just let him go, or drop him. I guided him to 
the floor to get him to sit down," in violation 
of Rule 14. 

28. It is alleged that in an Arrest Report dated 
September 27, 2012, accused Officer  

affirmed a false written report 
regarding description known at the time to 
establish probable cause for the arrest of 

in violation of Rule 14. 

26. Sustained 

27. Not Sustained 

28. Not Sustained 

IV. APPLICABLE RULES AND LAWS 

Rules 

Rule 2: Any action or conduct which impedes the Department's efforts to achieve its policy 
and goals or brings discredit upon the Department. 

Rule 4: Any conduct or action taken to use the official position for personal 
gain or influence. 
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Rule 6: Prohibits any disobedience of an order or directive, whether written or oral. 

Rule 8: Prohibits disrespect to or maltreatment of any person, while on or off duty. 

Rule 9: Engaging in any unjustified verbal or physical altercation with any 
person, while on or off duty. 

Rule 14: Making a false report, written or oral. 

Rule 22: Failure to report to the Department any violation of Rules and Regulations or any 
other improper conduct which is contrary to the policy, orders or directives of the 
Department. 

General Orders 

G01-01, "Mission Statement and Core Values" 

G03-02, "Use of Force Guidelines," Effective October 1, 2002 through October 16, 2017 

G03-02-02, "Force Options," Effective May 16, 2012 through March 11, 2015 

G08-01-02, "Allegations of Misconduct — Specific Responsibilities," 
Effective 24 May 2001 through March 17, 2013 

Special Orders 

SO4-13-09, "Contact Information System," 
Effective February 23, 2012 through April 3, 2014 

V. INVESTIGATIONS

In her Initiation Report, dated September 27, 2012, Sergeant #
documented that complainant, mother of alleged that on September 27, 
2012 at Officer # twisted arm and kicked 

down to the ground on the sidewalk.5

a. Interviews 

1. Civilian Statements 

i.  

In an interview with IPRA on September 29, 2012, (Ms.  
stated, on September 27, 2012, she received a call from her son ( that the police 
were at the corner store, (store), located at and Officer who 

3 COPA conducted a thorough and complete investigation. The following is a summary of the material evidence 
gathered and relied upon in our analysis. 

Sergeant was promoted to Lieutenant since this investigation began. 
5 Attachment 4. 
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Ms. encountered a year prior during an incident that resulted in arrest, "jumped 
on"6 her younger son, (Mr. who works at the store. 

Ms. drove to , arriving around 2:15 p.m. As Ms. exited 
her car, who was across the street from the store, walked toward her. At this time, Ms. 

heard Officer partner, now known as Officer say, "If you come 
over here, I'm gonna kick your ass."7 Ms. continued to walk toward the store, and 
responded to Officer "If you do, I'm gonna sue you."8 Ms. watched Officer 

grab by the collar, pull toward him, twist right arm, and say, "Now get 
out of this."9 When Ms. heard question why would he try to escape, she told it 
was so the officer could say resisted. Officer proceeded to push inside the store. 
Ms. did not enter the store with them, but she stood outside the front entrance door and 
saw what happened inside. Ms. saw Officer use his right leg to trip right 
leg. fell on the floor on his back, and Officer kicked in his upper body, including 
back, chest, side, and stomach, as balled up into a knot. Ms. saw the officer kick 

three times, before she walked away from the entrance and called for a sergeant to be on 
scene. Lieutenant (Lt.) arrived on scene, Ms. spoke to her about the incident, and Lt. 

initiated a complaint. 

Later that evening, Ms. went to the same store where she worked as a security 
officer. When Ms. picked up from the police station later he told her that Officer 

slapped and poked him, that Lt. was in the room when Officer did this, and 
that Lt. told Officer to leave afterwards. 

On September 28, 2012, while Ms. worked security at the store, Officers  
and came back to the store, just before closing. In her interview with the FBI and IPRA 
on December 18, 201210, she stated that that Officers and returned to the store, on 
September 28, 2012, and asked the store clerk, if there was any video recording from 
the previous day." In her statement to COPA on October 17, 2017, Ms. clarified her 
statement that when the officers arrived she heard Officer ask the store clerk,  
to view the surveillance camera footage. The officer was told the tape was not available.12

ii.  

In an interview with IPRA on September 29, 2012, ( stated, on September 
27, 2012, at approximately 1:30 p.m., he saw a gray detective car pull up on the curb in front of 
the neighborhood store located at the corner of Street and Avenue. The officers13
walked into the store and asked who worked at the store. brother, Mr. told the 

6 Attachment 43, page 4 line 9. 
7 Attachment 43, page 6 line 19-20. 
8 Attachment 43, page 6 line 22-23. 
9 Attachment 43, page 7 line 22. 
I° statement to the FBI was consistent with her September 29, 2012 interview with IPRA 
investigators. 
11 Attachment 110. 
12 Attachment 142. 
13 Now known as Officer and Officer  
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officers he worked there, then the officers snatched Mr. from behind the counter and put 
him in handcuffs. The officers began an investigation to determine which individuals had drugs or 
weapons on their person. At this point, told the officers he worked for a government contract 
phone company and was at the store to sign people up for the program. The officers told to 
stand outside the store, which he did. From outside, saw Officer strike his brother in 
the face. told the officers to stop and what they were doing was illegal. told the officers 
he was "going to call the real police."14

The other officer, now known as Officer went outside, grabbed threw him 
in the street and told him to stay away. crossed the street and called his mother, Ms.  
who was going to request a sergeant on scene. When Ms. arrived on scene, walked 
toward her vehicle as Officer yelled, "yeah...come over here, this I want you to do so I 
can fuck you up."I5 As Ms. got out of her car, she said, "Then I'm going to sue."16 Officer 

walked up to grabbed him by the collar, and told to resist or to fight.  
responded that he was not resisting. Officer grabbed right arm pushed it all the way 
behind back and up to his neck, while saying "now try to get out of this."17 When did 
not respond, Officer told he was under arrest and handcuffed him. While escorting 

into the store, Officer hit in his right-side ribs. 

Inside the store, Officer tripped straddled over him, and kicked him on both 
of his sides. During this time, told Officer that left ankle was broken, to which 
Officer responded by standing on his ankle. Afterwards, Officer came over, 
recognized and told Officer "this is the motherfucker who got the C something case 
against me."18 19 denied any refusal to leave the store at the request of officers, denied locking 
the door, denied shouting "fuck the police," or that he would sue and get paid. was transported 
to the District Police Station, directly from the store, and did not receive medical 
treatment.2°

Once at the police station, Officer entered the holding cell that he and Mr.  
were in, and in front of Lt. Officer removed handcuffs, slapped him, and 
punched in the face.21

In an interview with the FBI and IPRA on December 5, 2012, provided a 
statement consistent with his previous interview with IPRA with the following additional details. 
On the day of the incident when and Ms. walked to the store, Officer grabbed 

14 Attachment 48, page 10 lines 22-23. 
15 Attachment 48, page 12 lines 2-4. 
16 Attachment 48, page 12 line 6. 
17 Attachment 48, page 12 line 19. 
18 Attachment 48, page 12 lines 6,7. 
19 filed a complaint with IPRA under Log Number 1049900 that, on November 7, 2011, Officer  
used excessive force, failed to provide his name and badge number upon request and verbally abused The 
investigation for this log was completed on December 10, 2013 with "Not Sustained" findings on all counts. 
20 did not request medical treatment nor did he seek medical treatment after he was released from custody. 
Attachment 26,28, 48. 
21 Attachment 26,28, 48. 
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arm behind his back and pushed against Officer police car. Officer  
held against the police car with Officer knee before he pushed into the store. 

While at the police station, in the bullpen, Lt. asked questions about what 
happened and why he was arrested that day. Officer kept telling he was lying. Officer 

removed handcuffs and poked in the eye with his finger.22

iii. 

In an interview with IPRA on October 2, 2012, (Mr. stated 
that on September 27, 2012, he began work at 8:30 a.m. at the  
stocking shelves. At some point, Mr. emerged from the back of the store and noticed a 
police car parked on the sidewalk, close to the store's entrance door. Mr. knew from 
experience, when the guys on the block saw the police, they would enter the store and act as though 
they wanted to make purchases. Mr. walked up and stood next to his boss, to avoid 
getting involved with the police. When the police entered the store, they asked who worked at the 
store. Although Mr. and his boss said Mr. worked at the store, the police 
handcuffed Mr. to another man24 in the store. At first, the officers searched all the 
handcuffed young men, except Mr. Eventually an officer, now known as Officer  

came from the back of the store holding a backpack that contained an open bottle of liquor. 
Mr. claimed the backpack. Officer told Mr. he was fired immediately, 
because he was not supposed to have an open bottle of liquor. When Mr. said that was 
fine and he would go home after his handcuffs were removed, Officer said, "you think 
you're a smart ass, huh?"25 and told Mr. he was removing his handcuffs, so Mr.  
was not handcuffed when Officer hit him. 

According to Mr. at this point, another young man in the store drew Officer 
attention, and the officer without the hat, now known as Officer searched him 

and asked whether he had anything on him. . Mr. admitted to having a couple of bags of 
marijuana. Eventually, Mr. went into his own pocket, retrieved them, and handed them to 
Officer After he handed over the marijuana, Officer hit him in his face. Mr.  
stumbled backward into the chip display. Officer then grabbed Mr. by the throat 
until Mr. almost blacked out. Officer loosened his grip and pushed Mr. to 
the ground and handcuffed him. According to Mr. Officer searched him again and 
found a gun. Officer said, "we got emergency situation,"26 and kicked Mr. two to 
three times in the stomach, side, and legs area. Mr. did not receive medical treatment for 
his injuries, which included a laceration that resulted in a scab on the left side of his face, beneath 
the temple and above the jawbone. His left ribs were sore for two to three days. 

At the police station, Mr. realized they arrested his brother, Mr.  
explained that was only at the store signing people up for government phones. Mr.  

22 Attachment 113. 
23 At trial, United States of America v. (14 CR 674-1), on October 20, 2015, Mr. provided 
testimony consistent with his interviews to IPRA and FBI. 
24 Now known as  
25 Attachment 71, page 5 line 23. 
26 Attachment 71, page 16 lines 11,12. 
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did not see the incident between Officer and at the store because of where he was 
positioned in the store, but Mr. did observe interaction with Officer at the 
police station. While in a holding cell, a female officer27 asked what happened. told his 
story. Officer asked "why you lying to her?"28 and poked in the eye with his 
finger.29

In an interview with the FBI and IPRA, on December 5, 2012, provided 
a statement consistent with his previous interview with IPRA. Mr. added he did not seek 
medical treatment while in jail because he was told that it would take him longer to be released if 
he went to the emergency room.3°

iv.  

In an interview with the FBI on November 9, 2012, ( who is a 
sales representative for stated he arrived at the 

on September 27, 2012 around 12:00 p.m. to speak with the store 
owner. stood on the platform behind the counter and bulletproof glass with two store 
employees who were of Middle Eastern descent, when two police officers entered the store, 
announced they received a call about illegal drug activity inside the store, and said no one could 
leave. The officers demanded that the young men produce the drugs. When the young men did not 
produce any drugs, the officers frisked the young men, but did not recover anything evidentiary in 
nature. During the encounter, observed that some of the young men were handcuffed, the 
young men did not say much, and the young men remained courteous towards the officers, saying, 
`Yes, sir. No, sir.'31 Although could not identify any of the individuals present,  
indicated one young man,32 who officers later found in possession of a hand gun,33 was the store's 
"look out."34

stated he did not observe the officers conduct themselves in any inappropriate 
manner while interacting with the young men. One officer "spoke excessively to the men while 
his partner did not say much during the encounter."35 did not observe officers become 
physical36 with the young men. After interviewers informed video surveillance footage 

27 Now known as Lt.  
28 Attachment 71, page 20 line 13. 
29 Attachments 31, 71. 
30Attachment 112. 
31 Attachment 96, page 2. 
32 Now known as  
33 did not recall when or how the handgun was recovered. Attachment 96. 
34 explained that in his experience traveling around conducting business with numerous stores, stores 
employed individuals to be responsible for "watching out" for the store's business, being the store's "eyes and ears." 
Attachment 96, page 2. 
35 Attachment 96, page 2. 
36 Regarding physical contact, stated that he never observed any officer hit, strike, slap, punch or kick any of 
the young men at any time. Attachment 96. 
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depicted an officer or officers hit at least one young man, maintained he did not observe 
such activity.37

v.  

In an interview with the FBI and IPRA on November 15, 2012, (  
stated that on September 27, 2012, he worked a shift at the  
spoke with a representative when a police car drove up to the front door of the 
store. explained that he has called the police many times in the past to report people gathered 
near the store, but he did not call that day, and the officers did not explain why they were at the 
store that day.38 Two officers exited the vehicle, grabbed five to six people standing outside the 
store, and brought those individuals inside the store. Once inside the store, officers asked who 
worked there and handcuffed people together. Officers pushed some people around; could 
not see everything because he was on the side of the store. During the encounter, "the taller 
officer,"39 known now as Officer told Mr. he was fired, used a lot of profanity, 
and picked up a folding plastic wet floor sign, which he carried around pointing at people. Officer 

then dropped the wet floor sign, removed Mr. handcuffs, and asked if Mr. 
wanted to fight him. Mr. responded that he did not want to fight and he did 

nothing wrong. 

Officer walked up from the back with a backpack and asked who owned it. Mr. 
claimed the backpack. Officer approached Mr. to discuss liquor found in 

the backpack. As Officer spoke to Mr. Officer told Mr. to look 
up at him. When Mr. complied, Officer punched Mr. in the face. Officer 

then pushed Mr. against a cooler and choked Mr. with this hand to the 
point thought Mr. would die. Officer asked Mr. what was in his 
pockets. Mr. reached in his own pocket and pulled out a bag of weed. Officer  
punched Mr. in the body, dragged Mr. to the back of the store, and pushed Mr. 

to the floor. 

believed Officer heard, over the radio, someone called the police to report 
the incident. Officer went outside, brought  inside the store, and asked if he 
called the police. Officer pushed to the floor. Officer came to the front of the 
store to inform Officer he found a gun on Mr. Shortly after the gun was recovered, 
a female officer arrived and instructed Officers and to get everyone and go. Only 

and Mr. were arrested.'" , 

37 Attachment 96. IPRA contacted via telephone on October 1, 2012, where stated that he did not 
wish to make a statement regarding this incident, but that he thought the officers' conduct was not out of line. 
Attachment 49. 
38 At trial, United States of America v. (14 CR 674-1), on October 21, 2015, stated that the 
officers did not ask about guns or drugs in the store, nor did the officers ask about whether saw guns or drugs 
on Mr. Attachment 146, page 267-268. 
39 Attachment 100, page 1. 
40 Now known as  
41 Attachment 100. At trial, United States of America v. (14 CR 674-1), on October 21, 2015,  
when asked what Officer said to him as Officer was leaving the store, stated Officer  
told not to give the tape to anyone, which understood to mean the store video. Attachment 146, page 
270-271. 
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vi.  

In an interview with the FBI and IPRA on November 15, 2012,  
( stated that on September 27, 2012, he worked the cash register at the  

was working with who he believed spoke with and Mr.  
when two detectives pulled up to the front of the store. The detectives exited the vehicle, entered 
the store, handcuffed everyone together, and searched the store. The officers did not say why they 
were at the store, but, in experience, officers often showed up in the neighborhood, 
handcuffed, and searched individuals. 

Officer found a book bag, which contained a liquor bottle, in the back of the store. 
As Officer returned to the front of the store, he asked who owned the book bag. Officer 

went to the back of the store. Officer told Mr. he was fired, un-cuffed Mr. 
and while, using profanity, asked Mr. if he wanted to fight him. Mr.  

looked angry, but he remained silent. At this time, Officer returned to the front of the store, 
and instructed Mr. to lift his shirt and undo his pants. Mr. complied, and without 
further verbal instruction, Officer hit Mr. in the face, pushed him against the 
cooler, and choked Mr. Officer then pushed Mr. to the back of the store, 
pushed him down and kicked Mr. many times.42 Eventually, while in the back of the store, 
Officer found a gun. Mr. was in the back of the store, when Officer asked 

if he called the police to report his brother, Mr. was being beat up by police. 

On September 28, 2012, worked at the store. Right before closing, Officers  
and returned to the store. believed Mr. mother, and Mr.  
brother, were also present. Officer approached asked him why he allowed 
certain people to work at the store, and asked to come to the end of the counter and open the 
door to talk. opened the door, and Officer asked whether there was a video recording 
from the day before. felt threatened by the officers; he informed them the recording was only 
saved for a day. The officers left the store.43

In his testimony at trial, United States of America v. (14 CR 674-1), on 
October 20, 2015, provided the following additional details. The store was 
located in a bad neighborhood; there was a lot of crime, drugs, and shootings. frequently 
called the police for assistance in removing individuals hanging out in front of the store. Store 
personnel called the police approximately 10 times, but the police showed up once. 

believed Officer kicked Mr. after he placed Mr. in handcuffs. Attachment 102. 
43 Attachment 102. 
44 was arrested by the FBI and federally prosecuted. A Special January 2014 Grand Jury, indicted as 
follows: Count One, acted under the color of law, willfully subjected Mr. to the deprivation of right 
secured and protected by the Constitution and laws of the United States; Count Two, with the intent to 
impede, obstruct, and influence the investigation and proper administration of a matter, did knowingly falsify and 
make a false entry in a CPD tactical response report under event number and Count Three,  
with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the investigation and proper administration of a matter, did 
knowingly falsify and make a false entry in a CPD arrest report under event number  
At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found guilty of count one, and not guilty with respect to counts two 
and three. was sentenced to a total term of twenty-four months imprisonment. See Attachment 149. 
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On September 27, 2012, Officers and did not identify themselves when they 
entered the store. The officers did not indicate why they were in the store, nor did they indicate 
whether they had a warrant. The officers did not interview regarding drugs or guns in the 
store. never saw or Mr. sell drugs or carry a gun inside the store. 

was shown a portion of the video surveillance footage, marked as Government 
Exhibit 1. acknowledged, in the video, Officer came up the aisle to the front of the 
store, holding a gun. Officer said, "Look what I found, found a gun."45 Officer did 
not yell "gun" to his partner before this.46

On September 28, 2012, when Officer returned to the store, he asked about the 
video camera tape, whether had the tape, and whether or Ms. had asked about 
the tape. told Officer he did not have the tape because he was scared.47

vii.  

In an interview with the FBI and IPRA on December 18, 2012, (  
stated that on September 27, 2012, he was at the store with his friend  
( 48 as a customer. spoke with a man, later identified as regarding signing up for 
a free cell phone through a government program. As and exited the store, two 
officers49 approached; one officer5° grabbed by the shoulder and pushed him inside the store. 
Officers and handcuffed everyone inside the store together, except the store 
employees, which included Mr. after the officers asked Mr. if he worked at the 
store. Once everyone was handcuffed, the officers let leave the store. 

Officers and made everyone take off their shoes and asked for IDs.  
stood in the store for about 15 to 20 minutes. Officer found a backpack in the back of the 
store, which he said contained an open bottle of liquor and drug paraphernalia. did not see 
the contents. When the officers realized Mr. owned the backpack, an officer51 handcuffed 
Mr. to another handcuffed male. One officer52 told Mr. to lift his shirt and drop 
his pants. Officer asked Mr. if he had anything on him. Mr. admitted to 
having two bags of weed. Officer hit53Mr. pushed Mr. against the water 
cooler, choked Mr. and asked Mr. why he did not tell him what he had. Mr. 

did not respond. Officer hit Mr. two or three more times while against the 

as Attachment 146, page 52 line 19. 
46 Attachment 146, page 52 lines 20-22. 
42 Attachment 146, page 25-78. 
48 was not found during this investigation, and his last name was not obtained. He will be referred to as 

for the remainder of this report. 
49 Now known as Officers and per video evidence. 
59 Now known as Officer per video evidence, and will be referred to by name for the remainder of this 
report. 
51 According to video evidence, Officer handcuffed Mr. along with the other young men when the 
officers initially entered the store. See Attachment 153. 
52 Now known as Officer per Officer testimony at trial and video evidence. See Attachments 146, 
153. Officer will be referred to by name for the remainder of this report. 
" At some point, before the Officer hit Mr. Officer removed Mr. handcuffs. 
Attachment 109. 
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water cooler. Officer pushed Mr. to the back of the store, in an aisle. Officer  
and Mr. were out of sight, but heard an occasional moan, and Officer  
said he found a gun. never saw the gun. 

pleaded with Officer 54who taunted55 him to fight. He informed Officer 
about his recent surgery and did not want to be hit. Officer searched but not 

the male56 handcuffed next to Officer did not hit or arrest Officer  
picked up a "wet floor" sign, carried it, and pointed it at people. 

Officer "tussled"57 with outside the store. Officer brought inside, 
"roughed him up,"58 tripped him, stood on his foot, and "stomp kicked"59 At some point, one 
officer recognized and asked if he had a lawsuit against the officers. was not aware 
of any history between the officers and Mr. or 

In his testimony at trial, United States of America v. (14 CR 674-1), on 
October 21, 2015, provided the following additional details. The officers did not ask 

what he was doing inside the store or why he was outside the store. The officers handcuffed 
to his friend without explanation. felt he could not leave the store. The officer 

without a hat61 searched but did not explain what he was looking for to Although the 
officer did not take anything on he threatened to punch in the face. told the officer 
he could not do that; there were cameras, but the officer said he did not care about the cameras.62

viii.  

In an interview with the FBI and IPRA on January 17, 2013, (  
stated that on September 27, 2012, he went to the to pick up items for 
a meal. While standing in line at the store, an unmarked police car parked on the sidewalk with the 
front of the car nearly blocking the store's entrance. Two plainclothes officers exited the vehicle, 
entered the store, grabbed everyone and handcuffed them together. identified the officers 
as Officers and The officers asked everyone where the drugs were located and 
threatened the store owner that they would shut down the store. stated the officers searched 
the store, knocked bags of chips off the shelves and looked inside coolers. 

Officer came to the front of the store asking who owned a book bag he found in 
the back of the store. Mr. who at this point had not been handcuffed because he told the 
officers he worked at the store, admitted the book bag was his. Officer handcuffed Mr. 

' Now known as Officer described the officer as wearing a hat, short hair and kind of dark. 
Attachment 109. 
" The officer told "I'll knock your teeth out." Attachment 109, p. 2 and 3. questioned this action because 
there were cameras in the store, but the officer responded that he did not care about the cameras. Attachment 109, p. 
3. 
56 Now known as  
57 Attachment 109, page 3. 
"/d. 
59 Id. 

60 Attachment 109. 
'Now known as Officer  
62 Attachment 146, pages 229-263. 
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to and told Mr. he was fired because Officer found a bottle of 
Hennessey in the book bag.63 Officer started standing in front of Mr. Officer 

remained positioned in front of while Officer removed Mr.  
handcuffs, saying in essence, "Let me uncuff you so you can't say I hit you with the cuffs on."64
After Officer removed the handcuffs, he asked if Mr. had had any other illegal 
items on his person, to which Mr. responded that he had two bags of weed in his pocket. 
At the request of Officer Mr. lifted his shirt and unbuckled his pants, which fell 
to the floor. When Mr. pants fell to the ground, Officer punched Mr. in 
the jaw, and Mr. fell against the cooler. Officer continued to hit Mr. two 
more times, while Mr. raised his hands up. 

At the same time Officer first hit Mr. Officer "hand chopped 
[ ] neck."65 When asked Officer why he hit him, Officer responded, 
"cause you all know what was going on up here."66 Officer strike made take a 
step back in the aisle to catch his breath. His neck was red and sore for about a day. 

While heard Mr. yelling for his mom, Officer closed the store's 
front entrance door. At the door, Mr. brother,  asked Officer what 
was going on. Officer told to leave. did not hear say anything "smart"68
to Officer stood on his "tippy toes"69 trying to see inside. At this time, Officer  
stood near a cooler at the front of the store with Mr. he told Mr. to get on the 
ground. Officer proceeded to grab and drag Mr. to the back of the store. While Mr. 

and Officer were in the aisle toward the back of the store, through a 
security mirror located on the store's wall, saw a struggle between Officer and Mr.  
The struggle sounded like Officer hit Mr. for approximately twenty minutes, and 
afterwards, Officer came to the front of the store with a silver gun. The officers said, "We 
got a gun, we got drugs, and open alcohol in here."7°

Ms. and were at the store's entrance door. Officer told to get 
away from the store. walked across the street, but at some point, came back to the store's 
entrance. Officer went outside, grabbed slammed against the front of the police 
car parked near the entrance, and twisted arm behind his back. and Ms. asked, 
"Why you doing this?"71 Officer replied, "You just fucked up now."72 Ms. told 
Officer she would call the "real police."73 braced himself to stay outside as Officer 

63 Officer opened the bag in front of he saw the bag contained hair clippers, clothes, and underwear. 
did not see any drug paraphernalia in the bag. Attachment 114. 

64 Attachment 114, page 2. 
65 Attachment 114, page 3. 
66 Id. normally goes by the store about four times a day; he was not aware of any drug activity. has 
never known Mr. to carry a gun or to sell weed. Attachment 114. 
67 had not seen in the store that day, but he believed he had been out in front of the store selling 
government phones. Attachment 114. 
68 Attachment 114, page 3. 
69 Id. 
7° Attachment 114, page 4. 
71 Id. 
72 Id. 

73 Id. 
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pushed inside, and then Officer tripped and pushed down inside the 
store. was sitting on his rear end, when Officer shoved head into the cooler 
and kneed in the neck about four times. did not see get punched or kicked. 

After the officers heard a call for police to respond to a battery at the   
 the officers told everyone to take off their shoes, put the shoes in the middle of the store, 

take out their IDs, and whoever did not have an ID would go to jail. Officer picked up a 
"Wet Floor" sign and tried to get someone to hit or take a swing at him. Marked police cars arrived, 
the officers gave everyone their IDs back, told them all to leave the store, and to not talk to anyone. 

left the store and stood across the street, where observed Mr. taken to a car 
with his face visibly red and swollen and his lip bleeding.74

2. Police Statements 

i. Lieutenant  

In an interview with the FBI on December 12, 2012, Lieutenant75 #  
(Lt. stated that, on September 27, 2012, she responded to a radio call requesting a 
supervisor's assistance at the  

According to Lt. the officers were at the store that day conducting an investigation 
based on information Officer provided about illegal drug activity taking place inside 
the store.76 According to Lt that store had a bad reputation, and was known to have drug deals 
take place on the premises. In the past, after the store closed, the store owners/managers fraternized 
and drank with their employees, outside on the side of the store. 

Lt. arrived on the scene and looked for the person who requested a supervisor. 
Immediately, a woman approached Lt. who Lt. identified as the mother 
of and another man, now known as Mr. Ms. told Lt. that had an 
altercation with Officer at a nearby bus stop in the past, but Lt. had no knowledge of 
the incident and told Ms. that she was there only to discuss what occurred on that day at 
the store. Lt. told Ms. that Mr. was under arrest for having a gun on his 
person.77 Ms. did not have a problem with Mr. arrest; Ms. was 
concerned about welfare. Lt. told Ms. she would generate a CR number on 
Officer for "stomping to the ground."78

When Lt. entered the store, she observed young black males handcuffed in the middle 
of the store, and a young man, later identified as  sitting on the floor. was irate 

74 Attachment 114. 
75 At the time of this incident, Lt. was a sergeant, Star Number  
76 According to Lt. Officer told Officer and that an unidentified female reported men 
inside the store brandished a handgun, including in front of the store owner/manager, and the men dealt drugs. 
Attachment 108. 
77 Ms. told Lt. that Mr. had the gun for protection. Attachment 108, page 2. 
78 Attachment 108, page 4. 
79 In her interview with COPA on September 8, 2017, Lt. again stated both and were already 
handcuffed when she arrived on scene. Lt. did not give her handcuffs to any officer to use that day. Attachment 
135. 
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and belligerent, stating he could not be disrespected simply because he was black, and he knew his 
rights. Lt. spoke to Officers and about what happened and why  
and were under arrest.8° continued to be rude, belligerent and asked why was he 
arrested. Lt. told he was under arrest for interfering with a police investigation. 

At the police station, continued to be belligerent toward CPD personnel, and told Lt. 
"I'm suing your black ass. I'm going to get paid. This is some bullshit."81 Lt. told  

that he would not have been arrested if he had complied with Officer order to stay across 
the street from the store. said he attempted to check on his brother inside the store. 

The day following the incident in question, Officers and went to the  
to "check on things."82 Lt. had no knowledge regarding Officers  

and returning to the store, at any point, to retrieve video footage from the store's 
surveillance cameras.83

In her interview with IPRA on September 8, 2017, Lieutenant stated she 
called Officer into her office and told him mother, lodged a 
complaint against him for twisting arm. Lt. could not recall whether and  
were still being processed at the time.84

ii. Officer  

In an interview with the FBI and IPRA on January 14, 2013, Officer  
# (Officer stated that on September 23, 2012, ( reported to 
him and his partner that drugs, weapons, and loose cigarettes were sold at a neighborhood 
convenience store located at reported the store had security 
guards,85 but those security guards acted as lookouts for the illegal drug business within the store. 

asserted that, on at least one occasion, one of the store merchants, whom she described as 
Middle Eastern, closed the store at 12 a.m. and walked next door to use drugs with the workers at 
a worker's residence. 

Officer had no reason to doubt information. Avenue from to 
 Streets was a "hot spot"86 for drug activity. Officer never had specific knowledge of the 

drug operations, and on numerous occasions he told individuals at the referenced store they could 
not loiter in the area. 

Shortly after leaving Officer and his partner encountered tactical Officers 
and Officer provided this information to Officers and Officer 

80 The information provided to Lt. by the officers was, reportedly, substantially the same as the information 
provided in police reports completed by the officers and the officers' own interviews/testimony. See Attachments 5, 
8, 10, 51, 130, 132, 136, 145, 146, 147. 
81 Attachment 108, page 4. 
82 Id 
83 Id. 
84 Attachment 135. 
85 indicated that the mother of the security guards lived next door to the store, and that her residence was 
used as a look out facility. Attachment 111. 
86 Attachment 111, page 3. 
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told him Officers and would monitor the store for activity. Officer  
believed Officers and monitored the store between September 23 and September 
27, when they decided to act on the information provided by 87

In his testimony at trial, United States of America v. (14 CR 674-1), on 
October 21, 2015, Officer provided the following additional details. Officer  
spoke to a woman" about a burglary; they were outside, while Officer faced the store. The 
woman told Officer the six to seven black males standing outside the front of the store at that 
time were involved in the drug activity. 

Officer told Officers and drugs were sold at the store by one store 
manager and the security staff, who were security/look-outs. Security had weapons but it was not 
detailed which person had weapons. Drugs were hidden in the inoperative freezer located in the 
back of the store.89

iii.  

In his testimony at trial, United States of America v. (14 CR 674-1), on 
October 21, 2015 and October 22, 2015, provided a consistent statement as Officer 

with the following additional details. 

Officer was searching the rear of the store, when he heard Officer getting 
into a heated conversation with Mr. 9° Officer went to assist. Officer  
observed Mr. was no longer handcuffed, and it appeared Officer and Mr.  
were ready to "exchange blows."91 Officer saw what appeared to be the handle of a handgun 
in Mr. rear pants pocket, and gave Mr. verbal commands to show his hands. 
Mr. did not comply. On cross examination, after reviewing a series of stills representing 
the time before Officer first struck Mr. Officer explained that although he 
had a view of Mr. back pocket, he did not know Mr. had a gun and Mr.  
did not appear to be dangerous. 

Officer with a "partially balled up"92 hand, struck Mr. in the face because 
he wanted to avoid getting into a struggle with an individual with a handgun. Mr. backed 
into a cooler and Officer grabbed Mr. by the collar of his shirt, pushing himself 
back for distance. Officer denied choking Mr. while Mr. tried to incite 
the other males to attack Officer Mr. told Officer he did not have a gun, 
but he had weed, which Mr. pulled out from his front pocket. Mr. hand brushed 
against Officer gun, and, believing Mr. may be grabbing for his gun, Officer 

struck Mr. in the side with an uppercut punch. Officer then moved Mr. 

87 Attachment 111. 
88 Now known as  
89 Attachment 146, pages 350-362. 
9° Attachment 146, page 459 line 11 Officer confirmed, with the clerk behind the counter, Mr.  
worked at the store. 
91 Attachment 146, page 460 line 8. 
92 Attachment 146, page 464 lines 1,2. 
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down an aisle, took him to the ground, handcuffed and searched him. Officer went 
to the front of the store to inform Officer he recovered a gun. 

When asked why he went to the store the next day, Officer explained when officers 
conduct more than a preliminary investigation, which was done on the 27th where guns and drugs 
were recovered, officers always go back for a follow-up investigation. Officer denied ever 
asking for videotape while at the store.93

iv. Officer  

In an interview with IPRA on March 22, 2016, Officer # stated 
that on September 27, 2012, he worked Beat in civilian dress with police star visible, and 
an unmarked vehicle with his partner, Officer On or about September 23, 2012, 
Officer told Officer information he received from a concerned citizen94
regarding drug sales and guns at the location 95 Officer said the drugs 
would be inside and near coolers, in the back of the store. Officer knew illegal activity 
occurred on the premises; he had previously investigated the location numerous times, but now 
they had a credible civilian witness provide first-hand knowledge of the activity. 

Officers and wanted to act on the information quickly because the 
information was "very hot,"96 and there was no particular reason to go to the location on September 
27, except to surprise them, which Officer believes happened because he did not see a 
"look out"97 at the store that day. Officer observed two males98 attempting to leave the 
store. Officer stated had reasonable suspicion, which he did not define, to believe the two 
males were involved in criminal activity. Officers and took the two males back 
inside the store. For police safety and to maintain control, once inside the store, Officers  
and handcuffed most of the individuals. 

Officer while Officer stayed up front with the individuals, searched down 
aisles and looked near the coolers in the back of the store. When Officer did not find 
anything, he returned to watch the front, while Officer searched. Officer found a 
book bag that contained a bottle of liquor, a small scale, and small plastic baggies. No one claimed 
to own the bag, so the officers secured the bag in an aisle, kept everyone detained, and continued 
searching the store. 

Officer slapped potato chips out of someone's hands for officer safety. Officer 
told everyone he did not want anyone to have anything in their hands. He searched for 

weapons and did not want to make any mistakes.99 Officer admitted he picked up the "wet 

93 Attachment 146, pages 439-490 and 512-551. 
Now known as  

95 Now known as  
96 Attachment 132, page 13 line 18. Officer in his interview with COPA on October 31, 2017, explained 
"hot" meant that the activity was continuously going on. Attachment 147. 
97 Attachment 132, page 16 line 17. Officer defined "look out," as someone who is looking out for police 
and alerts others when police are present. Officer stated "look out" is a person outside affiliated with a gang, 
not necessarily affiliated with a store. Attachment 132, page 16 line 17 through page 17 line 10. 
9a Now known as and  
99For instance, Officer did not want to mistake a phone for a weapon. 

20 



CIVILIAN OFFICE OF POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY LOG#1057381 

floor" sign; he was frustrated individuals did not comply with his orders to be quietl°° while 
Officers and searched the store. Officer denied pointing the wet floor sign 
at the individuals as a form of intimidation. 

was searched to determine if there was anything illegal on his person. Upon 
request, removed his shoes, to determine whether any drugs were hidden in his 

shoes or socks. At one point, when tried to walk out., Officer stuck his arm out and 
said “wait,,,im and ran into Officer arm. In response to the interviewer 
mentioning alleged Officer struck him on the throat, Officer explained he 
is tall and the contact with was incidental, not intentional or malicious. It was an 
unintentional oversight that Officer did not fill out a contact card for due to the 
number of individuals in the store. 

Officer did not recall Due to the number of individuals in the store,  
would have been handcuffed for officer safety and searched to determine if he had contraband. 
Officer may have had a conversation with but he did not think there was any physical 
contact. Additionally, Officer was unsure whether he had a conversation with someone 
about recent surgery, but maybe Officer was very careful with this person because the 
person said they had recent surgery and Officer did not want any incidents. Again, it was 
an unintentional oversight that Officer did not fill out a contact card for  

Officer first encountered at the entrance door, and stated that he "kindly" told 
to leave the store because he did not fit the description of persons provided by Officer 
102 wore a nice shirt and khakis with an ID around his neck like a salesman. The others 

had on hoodies and saggy pants, emulating what officers expected at this location. picked up 
his bag and left without incident. 

When Officer turned and walked toward the entrance door, Officer used a 
hand stun on Mr. Officer continued toward the entrance door and did not see or 
hear anything afterward between Officer and Mr. Later, when Officer was 
at the front of the store, he yelled to Officer but did not receive an answer. Officer  
walked toward the aisle where Officer was with Mr. The officers met at the aisle 
and Officer told Officer he found a gun. At this time, Officer could see Mr. 

on the floor, but did not know how Mr. got there. Officer returned to his 
position in the front of the store.103

Later, was outside irate and belligerent; he caused a distraction outside, which Officer 
described as cursing and yelling "What the fuck you guys doing in there?"104 Officer 
went outside, gestured with his hands, and stated, "Get back. Get back",105 which he says 

10° Officer stated the young men cursed at officers and said regular "chitter chatter," which Officer  
gave examples the men said, "There's nothing in here," "What you fuck you got?" Attachment 132, page 29 lines 
22-24. 
101 Attachment 132, line 23. 
102 Attachment 132, page 31, line 24 — page 32, line 1. 
103 Attachments 130, 132. 
'° Attachment 132, page 33 line 17. 
105 Attachment 132, page 35 line 2. 
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can be seen in the video. Officer went back inside the store, but continued to monitor  
who was still cursing. Officer did not threaten to arrest but instead tried to use verbal 
commands, "Stay back, or you will be arrested,"I°6 to de-escalate the situation and avoid a physical 
confrontation. Officer denied using profanity toward When walked toward the 
store and Officer in an aggressive manner, Officer believed put Officer 

in a dangerous situation, so Officer went outside, spun around, gave a hand 
stun to the side of his body, and pinned him to the car. Officer held against the car 
because he did not have handcuffs to use on 7 Officer denied grabbing and throwing 

to the ground outside. During this incident, Officer was aware of a female, Ms. 
outside the store across the street, but Officer was focused on and did not 

recall any interaction with Ms. At some point, Officer believed Lt. arrived 
on scene, and he borrowed Lt. handcuffs to handcuff Officer had a very brief 
conversation with Lt. about what happened at the store. After was handcuffed, Officer 

took inside the store and told to sit in a certain location. kept walking, so 
Officer "grabbed him, and did a, like a takedown, swept him under his feet, did a takedown, 
and guided him to the floor. I didn't just let him go, or drop him. I guided him to the floor to get 
him to sit down."109 Officer denied kicking after was in a seated position.  
sat on the floor without incident. 

was arrested for obstruction. and Mr. were transported to the  
District Police Station for processing. At some point, while and Mr. were being 
processed, Lt. told Officer she initiated a complaint against him relative to what took 
place at the but Officer could not recall any details. At the 
station, and Mr. were placed into the tactical office holding cell,"° while Officers 

and filled out paperwork. Officer spoke with at the station to obtain 
personal information needed to fill out the paperwork. 

Additionally, Officer stated it is possible Lt. spoke to but he did not, 
specifically, recall Lt. speaking with or whether he was present at the time. Officer 

denied calling a liar or having any physical contact, including poking in the eye 
or slapping in the face while at the station. 

Officers and returned to the on September 28, 
2012. The previous day, one store owner111 had asked the officers to come back and check on them 
because "they've taken over our store."112 This request was not unusual; people constantly asked 
for police presence on certain blocks, where drugs were sold. Officers and went to 

106 Attachment 132, page 85 line 17, 18. 
107 Officer handcuffs were in use inside the store. Attachment 132. 
108 Now known as  
109 Attachment 132, page 42 lines 3-6. 
II° Officer could not recall whether and Mr. were handcuffed while they waited in the holding 
cell. Attachment 132, page 45. 
111 Officer described this store owner as the individual behind the counter with hair. The Interviewer 
identified the individual as Attachment 132, page 54. 
112 Attachment 132, page 55 lines 1-2. Officer stated never defined who he meant by "they," but 
Officer understood that was referring to the individuals that the officers saw at the store, loitering. 
Attachment 132, page 55, 56. 
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follow up on the store owner's request; since the officers already found the gun and drugs the day 
prior, Officer did not search the store and remained toward the entrance door, to the side, 
near the coolers. Officer did not talk to employees, did not request or attempt to retrieve 
any video footage, and he did not walk out with any tape. When asked, "And, at no point, while 
you were there, on the 28th, did you ask anyone for any video?",113 Officer responded, 
"No, I did not."'" Officer talked to an unidentified employee, but Officer has no 
knowledge of Officer attempting to obtain a copy of the video footage from September 27. 

Officer completed the case report and arrest reports because he found a gun on Mr. 
Officer completed the inventories and complaints. Officer told Officer 

what happened between Officer and Officer generated the narrative 
for arrest report, which Officer affirmed the substance of the narrative as accurate, 
but the chronology may be wrong. 

In his testimony at trial, United States of America v. (14 CR 674-1), on 
October 21, 2015, Officer # provided the following additional details. 

Officer admitted he saw the first strike Officer made to 115 further 
explaining while he was turning toward the front door, he "caught it out of the corner of my eye at 
the last second.1,116 

Officer went outside to tell not to come back in the store. Officer  
monitored the males inside the store and spoke with Mr. Officer was outside for 
a few seconds; when he walked back into the store, he saw the males still handcuffed and called 
out for Officer who met Officer at the aisle with a loaded gun Officer had 
recovered. Officer returned to the front of the store to act as a guard officer because he and 
Officer were outnumbered, and Officer wanted to make sure did not try to 
come back into the store. Attorney then, asked Officer "So by the time 
you come back into the store, Officer had already recovered the weapon?" Officer  
responded, “yes.,,117 

Officer and Officer returned to the on 
September 28 to see whether there was any more criminal or drug activity at the location. Attorney 

asked Officer "Was the purpose of you going back to the store to obtain 
the videotape?" Officer answered, “No.,,118 

In his interview with COPA on October 31, 2017, Officer #  
provided the following details in response to Rule 14 allegations.119 Officer reaffirmed he 
did not ask anyone for surveillance footage when he returned to the store on September 28, 2012. 

113 Attachment 132, page 57 lines 5, 6. 
114 Attachment 132, page 57 line 7. 
115 Attachment 136, page 30, line 24 —page 31, line 1. 
116 Attachment 136, page 31, line 14. 
1" Attachment 136, page 21, lines 1-3. 
118 Attachment 136, page 23, lines 3-5. 
119 COPA investigators provided Officer an opportunity to review available video evidence during his 
October 31, 2017, statement. 
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Officer initially spoke to the employee behind the counter, and asked why "this guy12o 

was back in the store because he had just been arrested for guns and drugs. Officer walked 
around and looked behind coolers because the information he received was guns and drugs were 
stored behind coolers. He did not recall having a conversation with or who 
Officer indicated did not have a good background; the three of them did not exchange 
pleasantries. "And, now, we're kinda putting the pieces together with the whole thing, that 
everybody's in on this, I mean, what we come up with, everybody's in on this drug thing together. 
The owners and the two people that are here today."121 Officer while in the store, did not 
hear Officer ask anyone for the surveillance video. Officer denied speaking with 
Officer about surveillance video. 

According to Officer it is common for officers to return to a place where they 
made an arrest the previous day. Officers frequently go back to put pressure on people, who may 
try to re-start the operation, and community members ask officers to come back. In this case, an 
"Arab"122 employee from the store had asked Officers and to come back because 
"they were taking over the store."123 An officer later told Officer a gentleman, of Middle 
Eastern descent, went to the District Station and asked for someone to check on the store, 
after September 28. Officers and were unable to follow up; they were on desk 
duty.124 Officer could not explain why, on September 28, he entered the store by himself, 
and Officer did not enter until several minutes later. Officer denied asking anyone 
for security or surveillance camera footage, and Officer denied ever hearing Officer  
ask anyone for security or surveillance camera footage. 

Officer reaffirmed his previous statement that he guided to the floor and did 
not drop him. Officer grabbed onto "coat, or his body, or his garments of his 
body,"125 and then held on to him as he went downward. Officer did not hold on to  
the entire way down because he did not want to fall on top of Officer explained that 
when he brought back into the store, attempted to pull away, and Officer  
performed a takedown. Officer held on to so would not fall into the coolers or 
get injured, but Officer had to let go to avoid falling on top of Officer denied 
pushing as fell to the floor, but admitted to pushing toward the coolers. Officer 

needed in the corner because he did not have handcuffs to put on him. 

In response to whether his statement at trial, regarding when Officer recovered the 
handgun from Mr. was a true and accurate account, Officer admitted it was not 
accurate. Officer explained he responded based on his memory, and he believed it 
happened sooner. He was confused on the timeframe because he exited the store on two occasions 
while Officer talked to Mr. Officer further explained the bald store 

120 Attachment 147, page 31 line 6. Now known as  
121 Attachment 147, page 32 line 9-13. 
122 Attachment 147, page 42 line 14. 
123 Attachment 147, page 42 line 15. Officer does not define who he means by "they." 
124 Officers and were stripped of police powers on October 1, 2012. See Attachments 38, 40. 
125 Attachment 147, page 68 lines 11, 12. 
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employee said, "He got a g—it's a gun, it's a gun."126 and, then, Officer met Officer  
at the aisle, where Officer showed him the gun. 

In response to questions regarding the arrest reports for and  
Officer again stated the reports were a summary of events. Officer explained the 
information he received was not about a specific person, but a description, which was male blacks 
in the store with baggy pants and hoods, selling drugs and possessing guns. Officer  
explained the probable cause to arrest Mr. was not from the description provided by the 
concerned citizen, but came after officers conducted a field interview, where Mr. said, "I 
have weed on me."127 Officer did not conduct any surveillance. The information was 
"hot," meaning it was ongoing, and the store disguised the criminal activity, so it was difficult to 
recognize.128 Officer at some point, heard Mr. worked at the store, but he was not 
told a title and he did not believe it until he confirmed it for himself. Officer stated the 
only person he believed was not affiliated with the criminal activity was because wore 
a badge or something around his neck. Officer wanted to sort out the situation because the 
information did not state employees were selling drugs; the description was "male, blacks, hanging 
out, selling drugs".129In his concluding remarks, Officer stated "Rule 14 is not designed to 
Monday morning quarterback, every single word in a transcript and find tiny non-material 
differences between statements, as done here. In fact, the charges themselves are not even accurate 
to my testimony, when the investigator purportedly was comparing my transcript to the video tape, 
none of which I was able to do. I was not requested to provide a statement to IPRA until March 
22, 2016, three and a half years after the arrest. None of my statements, or testimony, was 
intentionally false, and it was the truth, to the best of my recollection, at the time they were 
given."130 Officer wanted to address the allegation regarding the arrest report. Officer 

stated the jury found the report was not false and according to Officer 
at trial, and the station supervisor, who reviewed and approved the report after the booking process 
was complete, indicated that probable cause was established.132 Additionally, Officer  
stated he was provided immunity and, also, volunteered to testify; he was not found guilty of any 
"wrong or misdoing, and I wasn't found of lying to, in the trial."133

b. Digital Evidence 

Video Surveillance Footage from the (Store) captured 
portions of the incident that occurred on September 27, 2012 from multiple cameras located inside 
and outside the store. The video does not have audio. The video shows Officers and  

126 Attachment 147, page 88 lines 14, 15. 
127 Attachment 147, page 115 line 24. 
128 Attachment 147, page 122 lines 4-12. 
129 Attachment 147, page 126 line 22. 
13° Attachment 147, page 132 line 24 —page 133 lines 1-11. 
131 Officer testified on October 20 and October 21, 2015. Officer was an instructor for recruit 
training in the Education and Training Division. Officer testified to how recruits were trained to write arrest 
reports and tactical response reports. Officer did not answer any questions about the specific arrest reports for 

or Mr. Officer did not comment on whether probable cause was established in either arrest 
report. Attachment 146, pages 191-206, 218-229. 
132 Attachment 147, page 134. 
133 Attachment 147, page 134 lines 22, 23. Officer was never charged. Attachment 147, page 135. 
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enter the store bringing two male individuals inside with them. Inside the store, the officers 
immediately handcuff five individuals together, including and Mr.  
leaves the store. Officer engages in physical contact with and while 
Officer engaged in physical contact with Mr. Officer recovered a gun from 
Mr. Officer handcuffs Mr. and escorts him out of the store. Officer 

handcuffs and escorts him out of the store. Officers and were inside 
the store approximately thirty-six minutes.134

Video Surveillance Footage from the (Store) captured 
portions of the incident that occurred on September 28, 2012 from multiple cameras located inside 
the store. The video does not have audio. The video shows Officer enter the store. Officer 

does not speak with 'any customers of the store. Officer speaks with  
and Ms. A few minutes later, Officer enters the store, and, while gesturing with 
his hands in a questioning manner, says something in Officer direction. Officer  
walks around the store. Officer Officer does not speak with any customers of the 
store. Officer speaks with and Ms. Officers and leave 
the store. Officers and were inside the store approximately eight minutes.135

c. Documentary Evidence 

The Arrest Report for RD # written by Officer  
documented that the arresting officers "received information from a concerned citizen that Subject 
#1 ( was selling narcotics inside the store located at On 
September 27, 2012, at Street, as officers escorted out of the store, 

( blocked the doorway, refused to move and started shouting "Fuck the Police." 
Officer conducted an emergency take down on was arrested for resisting or 
obstructing a peace officer in the discharge of his duties.136

The Arrest Report for RD # written by Officer  
documented that arresting officers "received information from a concerned citizen that the above 
subject [ was selling narcotics inside the store located at Officers 
relocated to the store, and approached (Mr. to conduct a field interview. 
Mr. told Officer "'I got some weed on me' and reached toward his rear pants 
pocket at which time P.O. observed a handgun inside [Mr. ] rear pants pocket. 
P.O. conducted an emergency take down for officer safety and recovered the gun from [Mr. 

] rear pants pocket."137 Mr. was arrested on possession of a concealed weapon, 
having a firearm without a valid Firearm Ownership Identification card, and possession of 
cannabis.1" 

134 Attachments 150-153. See Attachment 162 for a detailed summary of the video. 
135 Attachments 154-155. See Attachment 162 for a detailed summary of the video. 
136 Attachment 8. 
137 Attachment 5, page 3. 
138 Attachment 5. 
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According to the Tactical Response Report (TRR) completed by Officer  
did not comply with verbal commands and pulled away. Officer responded with member 
presence, verbal commands, escort holds, and take down/emergency handcuffing.139

According to the Tactical Response Report (TRR) completed by Officer Mr. 
was armed, under influence, did not comply with verbal commands, fled, and pulled away 

from officers. Officer responded with member presence, verbal commands, open hand 
strike, and take down/emergency handcuffing.140 

The Office of Emergency Management and Communications (OEMC) Event Query 
# and documented Ms. request for a sergeant at 

 Street, and request for a squad car.141

VI. ANALYSIS 

a. Legal Standard 

I. LEGAL STANDARD 

For each Allegation COPA must make one of the following findings: 

1. Sustained - where it is determined the allegation is supported by a preponderance of the evidence; 

2. Not Sustained - where it is determined there is insufficient evidence to prove the allegations by a 
preponderance of the evidence; 

3. Unfounded - where it is determined by clear and convincing evidence that an allegation is false or 
not factual; or 

4. Exonerated - where it is determined by clear and convincing evidence that the conduct described 
in the allegation occurred, but it is lawful and proper. 

A preponderance of evidence can be described as evidence indicating that it is more likely than not 
that the conduct occurred and violated Department policy. See Avery v. State Farm Mutual Automobile 
Insurance Co., 216 Ill. 2d 100, 191 (2005), (a proposition is proved by a preponderance of the evidence 
when it has found to be more probably true than not). If the evidence gathered in an investigation 
establishes that it is more likely that the misconduct occurred, even if by a narrow margin, then the 
preponderance of the evidence standard is met. 

Clear and convincing evidence is a higher standard than a preponderance of the evidence but 
lower than the "beyond-a-reasonable doubt" standard required to convict a person of a criminal offense. 
See e.g., People v. Coan, 2016 IL App (2d) 151036 (2016). Clear and Convincing can be defined as a 

139 Attachments 10, 51. 
140 Attachment 6, 50. 
141 Attachments 15, 17, 18, 55-57 
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"degree of proof, which, considering all the evidence in the case, produces the firm and abiding belief 
that it is highly probable that the proposition . . . is true." Id. at ¶ 28. 

b. Legal and Factual Findings 

Twenty-eight (28) allegations were served against Officer For the clarity, COPA' s 
findings on each allegation and the corresponding basis are separated below into the following 
categories: (1) the initial contact with and on September 27, 2012; (2) Officer 

interactions with on September 27, 2012; (3) Officers and return 
to on September 28, 2012; (4) Officer conduct towards 

at the District Police Station; (5) Officer written and oral statements 
regarding this case; and (6) Officer conduct generally. 

1. Officer Interactions with and  

Allegations #1 through #8 pertain to Officer detention of and physical contact 
with and Each allegation is addressed in turn. 

i. Officer Unlawfully Detained and  

COPA finds Allegations #1 and #2 are Sustained, that Officer detained and 
without justification. 

Figure 1. The photo, a still shot taken from the video surveillance, timestamped 2:40, shows five 
individuals, r42 who were handcuffed together at the front qf the store. who is not in handcuffs, 
is standing near the front door. Officer wearing a dark jacket, stands in the middle of the 
photograph handcuffing two individuals together, while Officer wearing a baseball hat, 
stands near  

142 Four of the individuals are now known as All parties will 
be referred to by name for the remainder of this report. 
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The video and testimonial evidence clearly demonstrate that and were 
detained by Officers and was restrained in handcuffs for approximately 
thirty (30) minutes, and was detained in handcuffs even longer. 

"No right is held more sacred, or is more carefully guarded, by the common law than the 
right of every individual to the possession and control of his own person, free from all restraint or 
interference of others, unless by clear and unquestionable authority of law."143 The Court in Terry 
set forth a dual inquiry for deciding whether an officer's investigative detention (i.e. Terry stop) is 
reasonable: (1) whether the officer's action was justified at its inception and (2) whether it was 
reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first 
place.144

An officer may momentarily restrict a person's freedom of movement, if the officer has 
articulable reasonable suspicion that the person is committing, is about to commit, or has 
committed a crime.145 Certain factors can support a finding of reasonable suspicion in cases 
involving a tip, including corroboration of a tip through observation by officers . . . inclusion of 
details in the tip . . . explanation of the basis of knowledge of the tip by the informant . . . and little 
passage of time between receiving tip and acting upon it by officers. . . . Other factors can belie 
such a finding, including anonymity of the tipster . . . and absence of track record of supplying 
reliable information by known tipster."146An officer may not detain an individual based on mere 
hunches or unparticularized suspicions.147 Officers are prohibited from using race or gender as the 
sole basis for developing reasonable suspicion for a street stop.148 "An investigative detention must 
be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop."149

In this case, Officer detained and without justification. Officer  
lacked reasonable suspicion to detain and While Officer stated he had 
reasonable suspicion to believe that and were involved in criminal activity he could 
not and did not explain the basis of his suspicion, except that and fit a description 
included in a four-day-old tip provided by Officer and that he knew that illegal activity 
occurred at the premise from past investigations at the  

Officer admitted the tip did not include any specific description or the name of any 
individual, but rather included a generic description (black man) that could apply to most of the 

143 Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 9 (1967) (citing Union Pac. R. Co. v. Botsford, 141 U. S. 250, 251 (1891)). 
144 People v. Brownlee, 186 Ill. 2d 501, 519-20 (1999) (internal citation and quotations omitted). 
145 Special Order SO4-13-09 III. B. 
146 People v. Lampilok, 207 III. 2d 231, 257-58 (2003) (internal citations omitted). 
147 See People v. Moore, 286 Ill. App. 3d 649, 653 (3d Dist. 1997). 
148 General Order 002-04 III.B. 
149 Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500 (1983) (plurality opinion). 
150 Officer stated that told him and his partner on September 23, 2012, that drugs, weapons, and loose 
cigarettes were sold at a neighborhood convenience store located at by six or seven black males 
who stood in front of the store. Officer stated told him that the store had security guards, but those 
security guards acted as lookouts for the illegal drug business within the store and drugs were located in an operative 
freezer in the store. Officer stated that he reported the information provided by to Officers and 

shortly after he spoke with There is no evidence that Officer told Officers or the 
identity of his source or any other specific information about his source. 
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residents of the neighborhood where the store is located.151 Neither Officer nor Officer 
knew the specific source of the tip or attempted to verify the information through any type 

of surveillance. Furthermore, neither Officer or Officer independently observed 
or exhibit any behavior consistent with criminal activity prior to conducting the 

investigatory stop. Instead, Officers and simply drove up to the front entrance of 
the store and handcuffed every black male near or inside the store including and based 
on a general, second-hand, unverified, four-day old tip. A general, second-hand, unverified, four-
day old tip and purported152 personal knowledge of past criminal activity occurring at the  

did not constitute specific, articulable facts warranting an investigative stop 
of and Officer did not possess reasonable, articulable suspicion to believe 
that or had committed or were about to a crime; rather Officer detained  
and based on a mere hunch equally applicable to every black male who happened to be 
standing inside or the near the store at the moment Officers and arrived. 

For these reasons, a preponderance of the evidence establishes that Officer detained 
and without justification. Allegations #1 and #2 are Sustained. 

ii. Officer Failed to Document his Contact with and 
 

COPA finds Allegations #3 and #4 are Sustained, that Officer failed to properly 
document his interactions with and According to Special Order SO4-13-09, when 
department members conduct an investigatory street stop that does not result in an arrest, the 
department member is required to complete the appropriate contact information card.153 In his 
statement to IPRA, Officer explained he detained and pursuant to his 
investigation of alleged drug activity. At the conclusion of the investigation, neither nor 

were arrested. Furthermore, Officer admitted he did not complete a contact card 
for or 154 Officer justification for failing to document the interaction was 
that "it was an oversight in [his] part, due to the number of people in the store." This explanation 
is clearly insufficient to justify the lack of documentation, considering the length and invasive 
nature of the contact. Therefore, a preponderance of the evidence establishes that Officer  
failed to properly document his interaction with and  

For these reason, Allegations #3 and #4 are Sustained. 

iii. Officer Engaged in Unnecessary Physical Contact 
with and  

COPA finds Allegations #5 and #6 are Sustained, that Officer engaged in 
unnecessary physical contact with and According to General Order G03-02, an 
officer will use "an amount of force reasonably necessary based on the totality of the circumstances 
to perform a lawful task, effect an arrest, overcome resistance, control a subject, or protect 

"Attachment 147, page 117. 
152 Officer did not provide any detail regarding this past illegal activity. 
153 Special Order SO4-13-09 IV. B. 
154 Attachment 132, pages 24 and 27. 
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themselves or others from injury." 55 As was explained above when addressing Allegations #1 and 
#2, Officer detained and without justification, and therefore Officer  
contact with each was tainted at its inception. Because there was no reasonable, articulable 
suspicion to even restrict or movements, Officer physical contact with 
each was wholly unnecessary and unreasonable under the totality of the circumstances. t56 Officer 

physical contact served no legitimate police purpose. 

Further, even assuming arguendo Officer had reasonable, articulable suspicion to 
detain and Officer engaged in unnecessary and unreasonable physical contact 
with As shown on the video, was walking out of the store, when Officer  
grabbed him, handcuffed him to and pushed him back into the store. did not appear 
to resist in any way. Approximately ten minutes later, Officer appears to shove  
into and both and were forced to move. At this time, and were 
simply standing in the same place and in same manner that they had been in for some time and 
were not resisting in any way. Officer did not indicate during his statements that did 
not comply with his commands or resisted in any way. While it may have been reasonable for 
Officer to handcuff for officer safety, it was unreasonable for Officer to push 

who was not resisting.'" 

Based on the foregoing, a preponderance of the evidence establishes Officer  
engaged in unnecessary physical contact with and and Allegation #5 and Allegation 
#6 are Sustained. 

iv. Officer attempted to intimidate and  

COPA finds Allegation #7 and Allegation #8 are Sustained, that Officer  
attempted to intimidate and  

155 General Order G03-02, HI.B. 
156 While officers are not necessarily prohibited from making any contact with citizens when they do not have a 
lawful basis to detain them, Officer contact with and was not de minim is in nature. 
157 Assuming arguendo that Officer had reasonable, articulable suspicion to detain Officer  
physical contact with was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances. stated Officer  
chopped him in the neck whereas Officer stated he stuck his hand out while telling to wait. Officer 

explained if there was contact with throat area, it was inadvertent due to Officer height. 
The video appears to show walk away after Officer hit Mr. Officer sticks his arm 
out in front of and moves backward toward the aisle where was originally standing. Then, 
Officer walks out the front entrance door of the store, while remains handcuffed to another 
individual in the aisle. does not make any motions indicating he is injured or had been hit in his neck area. 
Therefore, COPA has not discovered any corroboration for claim that he was struck in the neck. The 
evidence suggests the physical contact was limited to moving backwards and handcuffing him. Based on the 
video, a preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that Officer used a reasonable amount of force against 

as he was walking away. 
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Figure 2. The photos, still shots from the video timestamped 14:49 and 15:13, respectively, 
represent the time when Officer had the "wet floor" sign in his hand as he walked around 
and speaking to the individuals at the front of the store. X58 

CPD Rules and Regulations prohibit officers from "engaging in any unjustified verbal or 
physical altercation with any person, while on or off duty."159 In the video, within about a twenty 
second timeframe, Officer is seen shoving into to move the two individuals, 
engaging in conversation, hitting an object, possibly a bag of chips, out of hand, and 
picking up a yellow plastic "wet floor" sign while gesturing toward and yelling at  
and the other individuals present. Officer then walks around gesturing at  
and the other individuals, who remain handcuffed, with the plastic sign in his hand while 
continuing to appear to yell. Officer in his 2016 statement to IPRA, admitted he picked 
up the "wet floor" sign because he was frustrated the individuals were not complying with his 
orders to be quiet while the officers searched the store. Although there is no direct audio evidence, 
Officer conduct throughout the encounter, as demonstrated by the video footage and the 
witness statements, make it more likely than not that Officer was attempting to intimidate 

and Officer intimidation constituted verbal maltreatment of and 
Therefore, Allegation #7 and Allegation #8 are Sustained. 

2. Officer Interactions with on September 27, 2012 

Allegations #9 through #20 pertain to Officer interaction with both at  
and at the District Station. Each allegation is addressed in turn. 

i. There is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that Officer 
threw to the ground in the street 

COPA finds Allegation #9 is Not Sustained, that Officer grabbed and threw  
on the ground in the street. According to Officer grabbed and threw him into the 
street, and then told him to stay away. Officer stated he gave multiple verbal 
commands to stay back. Then, when approached the store in an aggressive manner, Officer 

spun around, gave him a hand stun to his side, and pinned him to the car. Other 
witnesses reported observing Officer grab and pin against the car, but no witness saw 
Officer throw to the ground. From the video inside the store, after Officer hit 

158 Attachment 153. 
159 Resources, "Rules and Regulations of the Chicago Police Department," V. Rules of Conduct, Rule 9. 
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Mr. the first time, Officer walked to the front entrance and pushed an individual 
back from the door, but it is not possible to identify the individual from the camera. Additionally, 
no camera captured any incident outside involving Officer and  

Because there is no corroborating evidence demonstrating that Officer threw  
to the ground, Allegations #9 is Not Sustained"°. 

ii. Officer directed profanities towards  

COPA finds Allegation #10 is Sustained, that Officer directed profanities at  
Officer denied that he directed profanities at However, although they do not agree 
on the specific language used, and Ms. all assert that Officer  
directed profanities towards , , and Ms. accounts of the incident 
were materially corroborated by the video footage and independent witnesses. As explained in 
detail in Section VI(B)(4) below, material portions of Officer statements regarding the 
incident were contradicted by the video evidence and other witness statements and at a minimum, 
Officer demonstrated an inability to fully and accurately recall what occurred during the 
incident. 

Accordingly, the corroboration provided by Ms. and and Officer  
behavior as depicted on the video footage, is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that it is more 
likely than not that Officer directed profanities at Therefore, Allegation #10 is 
Sustained. 

iii. Officer was permitted to threaten to arrest  

COPA finds Allegation #11 is Exonerated, that Officer threatened to arrest  

Officer stated that in an effort to de-escalate the situation, he told to "stay 
back or you will be arrested." Illinois law permits an officer to arrest a person for obstruction "who 
knowingly resists or obstructs the performance by one known to the person to be a peace officer, 
firefighter, or correctional institution employee of any authorized act within his or her official 
capacity commits a Class A misdemeanor.").161 Although Officer had no lawful basis to 
initiate the investigatory stop, Officer had a lawful basis to arrest Mr. once he 
discovered that Mr. possessed marijuana. The video footage demonstrates that it is more 
likely than not that Officer ordered to stay away from the store and threatened to 
arrest him after his discovery of the marijuana. Therefore, Officer order to to stay 
back was lawful and Officer was justified in threatening to arrest if obstructed the 
officers. 

For these reasons, Allegation #11 is Exonerated. 

iv. Officer kicked and struck without justification 

COPA finds Allegations #12 and #14 are Sustained, that Officer kicked and 
struck about the body. 

160 A finding of "Not Sustained" reflects that there is insufficient evidence to prove or disprove the allegation. 
161 See 720 ILCS 5/31-1. 
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Determinations regarding the potential use of excessive force in the course of an arrest, 
investigatory stop, or other seizure are properly analyzed under the Fourth Amendment's objective 
reasonableness standard. The question is whether the officer's actions are objectively reasonable 
in light of the facts and circumstances confronting them, without regard to their underlying intent 
or motivation.' 62 The following factors are instructive in making the determination of whether an 
officer's use of force is reasonable: (1) "the severity of the crime at issue;" (2) "whether the suspect 
poses an immediate threat to the safety of the officers or others;" and (3) "whether he is actively 
resisting arrest or attempting to evade arrest by flight."163 The analysis of the reasonableness of an 
officer's actions must be grounded in the perspective of "a reasonable officer on the scene, rather 
than with the 20/20 vision of hindsight" and "allow for the fact that police officers are often forced 
to make split-second judgments — in circumstances that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly evolving 
— about the amount of force that is necessary in a particular situation."164 The analysis must take 
into account the totality of the circumstances confronting the officer, rather than just one or two 
factors.1 65

The Department utilizes a Use of Force Model to provide guidance on the appropriate 
amount of force to use. The primary objective of the use of force is to ensure control of a subject 
with the reasonable force necessary based on the totality of the circumstances. Department 
members must escalate or de-escalate the amount of force which is reasonably necessary to 
overcome the subject's resistance and to gain control over the subject.166 The force options 
available to CPD members are dictated by the subject's actions, and subjects are placed into 
categories based on their actions. 

A subject who fails to comply (non-movement) with verbal or other direction is classified 
as a passive resister. The force options available to an officer faced with a passive resister include 
holding techniques and pain compliance techniques (with or without instruments). 

A subject whose actions attempt to create distance between that person and the member's 
reach with the intent to avoid physical control and/or defeat the arrest is classified as an active 
resistor. This type of resistance includes gestures ranging from evasive movement of the arm, 
through flailing arms, to full flight by running. The force options available to an officer faced with 
an active resistor include holding techniques, pain compliance techniques, and stunning. 

A subject who is using or threatening the imminent use of force against himself/herself or 
another person is an assailant. The force options available to an officer faced with an assailant 
include all of the options available against an active resistor, with added options including direct 
mechanical techniques. Direct mechanical techniques are defined as "hard, concentrating, striking 
movements such as punching or kicking, or powerful locks and pressures. These techniques can 
be combined with take-downs or pins against the ground or other objects. 

stated Officer kicked him on both of his sides. Multiple witness accounts 
corroborate account. in his 2013 interview with FBI and IPRA, stated the officer 
brought inside and "roughed him up." stated that Officer tripped stood on 

162 Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 397 (1989); see Estate of Phillips v. City of Milwaukee, 123 F.3d 586, 592 (7th 
Cir. 2003). 
163 Graham, 490 U.S. at 396 (citing Tennessee v. Garner, 471 U.S. 1, 8-9 (1985)). 
164 PILIM/10ff v. Rickard, 134 S. Ct. 2012 (2014) (internal quotations and citation omitted). 
165 Plumhoff, 134 S. Ct. at 2020; see also Scott v. Edinburg, 346 F.3d 752, 756 (7th Cir. 2003). 
166 General Order G03-02-01, II. 
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his foot, and kicked The video demonstrates Officer taking to the ground, 
pushing two times towards the cooler, and then kicking The video does not depict  
resisting in any way or creating distance between himself and Officer Officer  
admitted in his initial interview with IPRA, that after he performed an "emergency takedown," 

sat on the floor without incident. 

Because was compliant and under Officer control and at most was a passive 
resister, Officer kick (i.e. a direct mechanical strike) was excessive and unreasonable 
under the totality of the circumstances. Therefore, Allegations #12 and #14 are Sustained. 

v. There is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that Officer 
slammed into a cooler 

COPA finds Allegation #13 is Not Sustained, that Officer slammed against 
a cooler. The video depicts that the cooler is in the area in the front of the store where was 
taken to the ground. At times, Officer can be seen on the video pushing in the 
direction towards the cooler,167 and is very close to the cooler when Officer brings 

to his feet and performs a search. However, due to the angle of the camera that captured the 
time frame of this incident, there is insufficient evidence to prove or disprove, by a preponderance 
of the evidence, that Officer slammed against a cooler as alleged. Therefore, 
Allegation #13 is Not Sustained. 

vi. Officer Falsely Arrested  

COPA finds Allegation #15 is Sustained, that Officer falsely arrested  

An officer must have probable cause to arrest a subject. I68 "Probable cause to arrest exists 
when the totality of the facts and circumstances known to a police officer would lead a person of 
reasonable caution to believe that the person apprehended has committed a crime, and its existence 
depends on the totality of the circumstances at the time of the arrest."169 The officer's subjective 
belief is not determinative; rather probable cause is an objective standard.I7°

Officer arrested for obstructing a peace officer in the discharge of his duties. 
Obstruction of a police officer requires a physical act "which imposes an obstacle which may 
impede, hinder, interrupt, prevent or delay the performance of the officer's duties."171

Officer provided inconsistent accounts of the arrest. The arrest report noted in 
relevant part: 

Event # This is an arrest made by Tactical Unit while conducting a 
narcotic investigation at the above address . . . . The above Subject [ arrived 

167 As explained above, Officer pushes were excessive and unreasonable under the totality of the 
circumstances. 
168 People v. Johnson, 408 Ill. App. 3d 107, 199 (citing Beck v. Ohio, 379 U.S. 89, 91, (1964)). 
169 Id. (citing People v. Wear, 229 Ill. 2d 545, 563-64, 893 (2008)). 
170 Id. (citing People v. Chapman, 194 Ill. 2d 186, 218-19, (2000)). 

171 Williams v. Jaglowski, 269 F.3d 778, 782 (7th Cir. 2001). 
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on scene yelling at A/Os, 'Let my brother go, he aint did shit.' A/O's asked the 
above subject to leave several times, but he refused. A/O's were trying to escort 
Subject #1 out of the store at which time the above Subject blocked the doorway 
refusing to move and started shouting "fuck the Police." P.O. conducted a 
[sic] emergency take down to gain control of the above Subject at which time he 
was placed into custody and transported to the district for further 
processing.172

Officer in his 2016 interview with IPRA, affirmed that the substance of  
Arrest Report's narrative was accurate, but noted that the chronology of events may be wrong. 
Officer did not explain what was wrong. However, Officer stated that when  
approached him in an aggressive manner, he believed was putting him in a dangerous 
situation. Officer stated he went outside, spun around, gave a hand stun to the side 
of body, and pinned to the car. Officer stated that when he obtained handcuffs, 
he placed them on  

denied refusing to leave the store or saying, "fuck the Police." The video footage 
demonstrates when Officer escorted Mr. to the front of the store, was already 
handcuffed and seated on the ground in front of a cooler, which is near the front entrance. The 
video does not depict obstructing Officer or Officer from removing Mr. 

from the store in any way. The video also does not depict obstructing Officer  
or Officer in any other way. Therefore, a preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that 

alleged obstruction in the store, as documented in the police report, did not actually occur. 

Furthermore, no witness reported approaching Officer in an aggressive 
manner or yelling obscenities at Officer stated that did not try to get inside 
the store, but did ask Officer what was going on and tried to see inside the store. 
Additionally, video from outside the store's entrance, depicts periodically standing outside 
the front entrance of the store. At some point, the video shows both Ms. and standing 
near the front entrance of the store talking to each other. Each time is visible on the video, 

does not appear to attempt to enter the store, nor does appear to yell or move 
aggressively toward the store. 

Due to the material inconsistencies between the account of arrest, as documented in 
the arrest report, and the video evidence, and no witnesses materially corroborating the additional 
details Officer reported to IPRA investigators, that were not referenced at all in the arrest 
report, a preponderance of the evidence establishes that did not obstruct any lawful police 
activities. Under the totality of the circumstances, a reasonable officer would not have concluded 
there was probable cause to arrest for obstruction or any other offense.173 Therefore, 
Allegation #15 against Officer is Sustained. 

vii. Officer Failed to Report Misconduct 

COPA finds Allegation #16 is Sustained, that on September 27, 2012, Officer  
observed and/or had knowledge of misconduct on the part of another Department Member and 

172 Attachment 8, page 2. 
173 There is no evidence that alleged actions outside of the store constituted a criminal offense. 
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failed to report it. According to G08-01-02, "when misconduct is observed or a complaint relative 
to misconduct is received by a non-supervisory member, such member will immediately notify a 
supervisory member and prepare a written report to the commanding officer containing the 
information received, observations made, and any action taken."174 Additionally, G01-01 
delineates CPD's Mission Statement, where CPD is committed to enforce the law, and officers 
"will strive to attain the highest degree of ethical behavior and professional conduct at all times."175

Officer admitted, in his testimony at Officer criminal trial and his 
interview with IPRA, that he saw Officer first strike of Mr. Officer  
explained that Officer used a hand stun on Mr. but did not explain why Officer 

actions were appropriate or justified. Officer stated he then walked toward the 
front entrance and did not see or hear anything that occurred afterwards. 

However, the video demonstrates that Officer hit Mr. for the first time with 
a closed fist in the face while Mr. was holding his shirt up around his chest, with both 
hands. Mr. is not resisting arrest or any control by the officers at the time. Rather, it 
appears Mr. is following orders by Officer to lift his shirt. Because Mr.  
was either compliant or a passive resister,176 Officer initial closed fist punch was 
excessive and clearly violated CPD policy. 

Figure 3. The photos, still shots taken from the video surveillance, timestamped 13:06, shows 
Officer standing next to Officer and looking in the direction of Officer and 

when Officer first struck  

The video confirms that Officer was looking at Mr. as Mr. was 
holding his shirt up and Officer struck Mr. with a closed fist. A preponderance of 
the evidence demonstrates that Officer knew that Officer struck Mr. with 
a closed fist and that Mr. was not an assailant. Therefore, Officer was required to 

174 General Order G08-01-02, "Allegations of Misconduct — Specific Responsibilities," effective May 24, 2001 and 
rescinded on March 17, 2013, governs Officer conduct in this matter. 
175 General Order G01-01, II.A. 
176 Officer testified in the criminal trial that he ordered Mr. to lower his shirt and that Mr.  
refused. Officer is not a credible witness and was ultimately convicted of willfully depriving Mr. of 
his constitutional rights. More importantly, even assuming arguendo Mr. did refuse to lower his shirt, he 
would still be classified as a passive resister and therefore neither a closed hand strike or open hand diffused strike 
would be permitted under CPD's use of force policy. 

37 



CIVILIAN OFFICE OF POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY LOG#1057381 

report Officer misconduct to the Department which was clearly excessive and 
unreasonable. 

Therefore, Allegation #16 is Sustained. 

3. Officer Conduct towards at the District Police 
Station 

Allegations #18 through #20 pertain to Officer conduct towards at the 
District Police Station. Each allegation is addressed in turn. 

i. There is Insufficient Evidence that Officer Struck  
About the Face or Poked in the Eye at the Station 

COPA finds Allegations #18 and #19 are Not Sustained, that Officer entered the 
holding cell and struck about the face and poked in the eye. stated that at the station 
Officer removed his handcuffs and then slapped him in the face. and Mr.  
stated Officer poked in the eye while was talking to Lt. in the holding cell. 
Officer denied having any physical contact with at the station and denied poking  
in the eye. Lt. did not recall observing Officer strike about the face or poke  
in the eye. There is no independent evidence to corroborate the incident such as video surveillance, 
other witnesses, or evidence of injuries to Because there is insufficient evidence to prove or 
disprove by a preponderance of the evidence that Officer entered the holding cell and 
struck about the face and/or poked in the eye, Allegations #18 and #19 are Not 
Sustained. 

ii. Officer Did Not Observe Any Misconduct at the  

District Station 

COPA finds Allegation #20 is Unfounded, that on September 27, 2012, following the 
arrests of and at the District Station Officer observed and/or 
had knowledge of misconduct on the part of another Department Member and failed to report it. 
There were no allegations of misconduct made against a department member, other than Officer 

while at the District Station. Therefore, a preponderance of the evidence establishes 
that Officer did not observe and/or have knowledge of misconduct on the part of another 
Department Member and failed to report it. Therefore, Allegation #20 is Unfounded. 

4. Officer Return to the Store on September 
28, 2012 

Allegations #21, #22, and #23 pertain to Officer return to  
on September 28, 2012. Each allegation is addressed in turn. 

i. Officer Attempted to Obstruct a Department 
Investigation 

COPA finds Allegation #21 is Sustained, that on September 28, 2012, Officer  
attempted to obstruct an administrative investigation by attempting to obtain the security 
surveillance video from the from September 27, 2012. CPD Rules 
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and Regulations prohibit officers from "any conduct or action taken to use the official position for 
personal gain or influence."177 Officer denied that he returned to the store to attempt to 
obtain a copy of the surveillance footage. Officer that he returned to the store the next day, 
September 28, 2012, at the request of a store owner. Officer stated similar requests happen 
all the time. In his testimony at trial, Officer stated when officers conduct an investigation 
that is considered more than preliminary, officers always perform a follow-up investigation. 
However, no store employee confirmed Officers and assertion that someone 
from the store requested a visit, and multiple witnesses stated Officers and asked 
about video surveillance footage.178

A preponderance of the evidence establishes that Officer attempted to obstruct an 
administrative investigation by obtaining the video footage relating to the September 27, 2012, 
incident. The evidence demonstrates that Officer knew there were video cameras in the 
store179 and was aware an administrative investigation180 had been initiated relating to the 
September 27, 2012, incident at the store. stated he informed Officer about the 
cameras during the September 27, 2012, incident. in his 2012 interview with FBI and IPRA, 
stated that on September 28, 2012, right before closing, Officers and returned to 
the store and that Officer asked whether there was a video recording from the day 
before.181 Additionally, Ms. in her 2012 interview with FBI and IPRA, stated Officers 

and returned to the store on September 28, 2012, and asked the store clerk, 
if there was any video recording from the previous day.182 Ms. further 

clarified her statement, in her 2017 interview with COPA, that when the officers returned, she 
heard Officer ask the store clerk, to view the surveillance footage.  
and Ms. accounts are credible and consistent with the video evidence. A preponderance 
of the evidence establishes that Officer attempted to retrieve the video footage. Therefore, 
Allegation #21 is Sustained. 

ii. Officer Failed to Report Misconduct That He 
Observed on September 28, 2012 

COPA finds Allegation #22 is Sustained, that on September 28, 2012, Officer  
observed and/or had knowledge of misconduct on the part of another Department Member and 
failed to report it, specifically that Officer intended to interfere with the administrative 
investigation by requesting the video footage from September 27, 2012. 

Officer in his 2017 statement to COPA, denied ever speaking with Officer  
about video surveillance. Officer denied ever hearing Officer ask anyone for 
security or surveillance camera footage. However, the video footage depicts Officer  

177 Resources, "Rules and Regulations of the Chicago Police Department," V. Rules of Conduct, Rule 4. 
178 Store employees did say generally that they called the police on multiple occasions to come to the store, but 
officers only respond approximately one out of ten times. Attachment 146, p. 61, lines 14-17. 
179 stated he specifically told Officer about the cameras during the September 27, 2012, incident and 
Officer stated words to the effect he did not care. 
1" Lt. specifically stated she told Officer about the complaint. 
181 The investigation demonstrated that did not have any meaningful involvement in the September 27, 2012 
incident, and did not reveal any motive for to lie to the FBI. Furthermore, would have exposed himself to 
criminal liability by lying to the FBI. 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 
182 Attachment 110. 
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entering the store for several minutes after Officer and then appearing to talk to the store 
employee working behind the counter along with and Ms. Officer does not 
search the store and never goes beyond the front of the store. In his testimony at Officer  
criminal trial, stated Officer asked him whether he had surveillance video, but  
testified he was scared and told Officer that he did not. COPA finds criminal court 
testimony credible and finds it is more likely than not that Officer did ask for the 
video footage. 

The video depicts Officer standing only a few feet from Officer and looking 
directly at Officer while Officer has a conversation with Officer does 
not appear to be speaking to anyone else or doing anything while this occurred. Officer  
stated he did not speak to anyone that day.I83 Thus, Officer more likely than not heard 
Officer asking about the video. Although Officer insisted he returned to the 
store the next day at the request of a store owner, as discussed above, the evidence demonstrates 
that it is more likely than not that Officer went to the store in an attempt to retrieve the 
video. A preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that Officer knew that Officer 

also intended to obstruct the administrative investigation by requesting the surveillance 
footage. 

For these reasons, Allegation #22 is Sustained. 

5. Rule 14 Allegations 

Rule 14 of CPD's rules of conduct prohibits making a false report, written or ora1.184 To 
constitute a Rule 14 violation, the false statement must be willful and pertain to a material fact. 
Pursuant to Section 6.1 of the Agreement between Fraternal Order of Police Chicago Lodge No. 7 
and the City of Chicago (the "collective bargaining agreement" or "CBA"), "In any event, the 
Employer shall not charge an Officer with a Rule 14 violation unless it has determined that: (1) 
the Officer willfully made a false statement; and (2) the false statement was made about a fact that 
was material to the incident under investigation." Allegations #24 through #28 address Rule 14 
allegations against Officer Each will be addressed in turn. 

i. Officer Falsely Reported his Purpose for Returning to 
Store on September 28, 2012. 

COPA finds Allegation #24 and #26 are Sustained, that: 

(1) Under oath in Officer testimony, on October 21, 2015, at the criminal trial of 
(Case 14 CR 674-1), Officer gave false oral testimony regarding the 

purpose of his return to the on September 28, 2012, in that 
Attorney asked Officer "Was the purpose of you going back to the store to obtain 
the videotape?" Officer answered, "No;" and 

(2) In an interview with IPRA dated March 22, 2016, Officer gave false oral 
statement regarding the purpose of his return to the on 28 

183 See Attachment 136, p. 22, lines 12-16. and Attachment 132, p. 58, lines 1-16. 
184 Resources, "Rules and Regulations of the Chicago Police Department," V. Rules of Conduct, Rule 14. 
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September 2012, in that Investigator asked Officer "And,,at no point, while you were 
there, on the 28th, did you ask anyone for any video?" Officer answered, "No, I did 
not;" 

As explained above in detail above, a preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that 
Officer returned to the store on September 28, 2012, to retrieve surveillance evidence. 
Therefore, Officer provided false statement when he denied that his purpose for returning 
to the store was to retrieve the surveillance footage and when he stated he never asked for the 
video. Officer motive for returning to the store on September 28, 2012, and his actions 
once he returned to the store were material both to Officer criminal trial and this 
administrative investigation. Officer false statements were willful and demonstrate a 
pattern of minimizing his misconduct relating to this incident 

For these reasons, Allegations #24 and #26 are Sustained. 

ii. There is Insufficient Evidence to Demonstrate that Officer 
Provided False Testimony Regarding Recovery of the 

Weapon from the Store on September 27, 2012 

COPA finds Allegation #25 is Not Sustained, that on October 21, 2015, at the criminal 
trial of (Case 14 CR 674-1), Officer  gave false oral testimony under oath 
regarding when Officer recovered the handgun from in that Attorney asked 
Officer "So by the time you come back into the store, Officer had already 
recovered the weapon?" Officer "Yes." 

In his October 21, 2015 testimony, Officer stated when he walked outside, Officer 
monitored the males inside the store and Officer was talking to Mr. Officer 
stated when he came back inside the store, he observed the individuals in the front of the 

store and called out to Officer Officer then met him at the aisle with a loaded gun. 
Officer affirmed that Officer had already recovered the handgun when he returned 
to the store. 

In his 2017 interview with COPA, Officer admitted his statement was not accurate, 
and Officer did not recover the gun until two minutes after Officer walked back 
into the store. Officer explained the inaccuracy was not malicious. Officer stated 
he was confused on the timeframe and remembered it happening faster. 

The video demonstrates that there was only one instance where Officer walked 
outside while Officer spoke to Mr. at the front of the store. When Officer  
walked back inside, Officer was still in the front of the store with Mr. against the 
cooler on the side wall. No handgun had been recovered. Officer was facing Officer  
when Officer struck Mr. and dragged Mr. down an aisle. No gun had been 
recovered, at this time. Officer picked up a "wet floor" sign and walked around speaking 
to the handcuffed individuals in the front of the store. Eventually, Officer recovered a 
handgun from Mr. A store employee motioned to Officer Officer walked 
to the aisle where Officer was located, and Officer showed Officer the 
handgun. This occurred approximately two minutes after Officer returned into the store. 
Officer stated after the handgun was recovered, he became the guard officer because the 
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officers were outnumbered, and he had to monitor to ensure he did not come inside the store. 
The video shows that, after recovering the gun, Officer immediate actions toward the 
individuals became more aggressive. Eventually, Officer tossed the "wet floor" sign to the 
ground but continued to walk around yelling at the individuals. 

There is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that Officer willfully misrepresented 
the timing of the recovery of the firearm during the criminal trial. Officer had no obvious 
reason to falsely assert that Officer recovered the weapon at an earlier point during the 
incident, prior to Officer use of excessive force, because Officer excessive force 
would have been more egregious had Officer already recovered Mr. firearm. 
Furthermore, Officer provided his criminal court testimony several years after the incident 
and ultimately admitted his timeline was inaccurate after reviewing the video during his October 
31, 2017, statement to COPA investigators. 

Based on the foregoing, there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that Officer  
provided a materially false statement in his October 21, 2015 testimony at the criminal trial of 

regarding when Officer recovered the handgun from  
Therefore, Allegation #25 is Not Sustained. 

iii. There is Insufficient Evidence to Demonstrate Officer  
Provided False Testimony Regarding his Interaction with 

 

COPA finds Allegation #27 is Not Sustained, that in an interview to the Independent 
Police Review Authority dated March 22, 2016, at 1615 W. Chicago Avenue, accused Officer 

gave false oral statement regarding physical contact with inside the  
near the front entrance, in that Officer stated "So, I grabbed him and did a, like 

a takedown, swept under his feet, did a takedown, and guided him to the floor. I didn't just let him 
go, or drop him. I guided him to the floor to get him to sit down," in violation of Rule 14. 

According to the video, Officer used his leg to kick legs off the ground. As 
fell backwards to the ground, Officer took a step backward and released both his 

hands from his hold on Officer explained when he brought back into the store, 
attempted to pull away, and Officer performed a takedown. Officer held on 

to so would not fall into the coolers or get injured, but Officer had to let go to 
avoid falling on top of  

Considering the angle of the video, there is insufficient evidence to establish whether it 
was false for Officer to state he guided to the ground when stepped back and released 

to fall on the ground or assuming arguendo the statement was false, whether the false 
statement was willful. Therefore, Allegation #27 is Not Sustained. 

( 
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iv. There is Insufficient Evidence to Demonstrate that Officer 
Affirmed a False Written Report in Order to 

Manufacture Probable Cause to Arrest  
 

COPA finds Allegation #28 is Not Sustained, that in an Arrest Report dated September 
27, 2012, accused Officer affirmed a false written report regarding description known at 
the time to establish probable cause for the arrest of in violation of Rule 14. 

According to arrest report, Officers and "received information from 
a concerned citizen that Subject #1 ( was selling narcotics inside the store located 
at I85 Additionally, according to Mr. arrest report: 

A/O's received information from a concerned citizen that the above subject [  
was selling narcotics inside the store located at A/O's relocated 

to the above address listed and observed the above subject fitting the description given by 
the concerned citizen. P.O. approached the above subject to conduct a field 
interview at which time the above subject stated to P.O. "I got some weed on me" 
and reached toward his rear pants pocket at which time P.O. observed a handgun 
inside the above subject rear pants pocket... 

It is undisputed Officer was not provided the identity of Mr. by a 
concerned citizen prior to entering the store on September 27, 2012. Officer admitted that 
when he walked in the store on September 27, 2012, he was not looking for Mr.  
specifically. Rather, Officer walked in and saw an individual, Mr. that fit the 
description in the tip, which was males, black, selling drugs. However, Officer in his 2016 
interview with IPRA and his 2017 interview with COPA, affirmed that the arrest reports were true 
and accurate substantively. Officer explained the probable cause to arrest Mr. was 
not due to the concerned citizen's tip, but because Mr. admitted he had marijuana on him 
during the field interview. 

From the totality of the circumstances, it appears that Officer may have failed to 
comprehend why the arrest report was false during his statement to IPRA and COPA investigators. 
Specifically, it appears that Officer may not have understood that the arrest report was 
false because the wording indicated the tip Officers and received relating to Mr. 

specifically rather than a more generalized tip of drug sales by black males. Indeed, 
Officer expressly stated the tip was general and not specifically related to Mr.  
during his interviews, but nonetheless affirmed the arrest report. Therefore, there is insufficient 
evidence to demonstrate willfulness, and Allegation #28 is Not Sustained. 

6. Officer Conduct Brought Discredit to the Department 

COPA finds Allegation #17 and Allegation #23 are Sustained, that Officer  
brought discredit on the Department by his overall actions and conduct at the  
store on September 27, 2012 and September 28. 2012. CPD Rules and Regulations, prohibit an 
officer from any action or conduct which impedes the Department's efforts to achieve its policy 

185 Attachment 8, page 2. 
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and goals or brings discredit upon the Department.186 Additionally, General Order G01-01 
delineates CPD's Mission Statement and Core Values, which include professionalism and 
integrity, and requires all officers to act and respond to chronic crime and disorder in ways that are 
consistent with the Mission Statement and Core Values.'87 As indicated in this report, Officer 

improperly detained multiple individuals, did not fill out required department reports, used 
excessive force on multiple individuals, and attempted to impede an investigation by requesting 
video surveillance footage. Additionally, Officer did not intervene when he saw Officer 

use inappropriate force against Mr. but instead ignored it and subsequently failed 
to report Officer use of excessive force. 

Considering that, in general, just one of the acts of misconduct listed above violated CPD's 
Core Values of integrity and professionalism, the sum of all Officer conduct brings 
tremendous discredit to the Department. Additionally, Officer actions were committed 
in front of several Chicago citizens. Based on the foregoing, a preponderance of the evidence 
establishes that Officer brought discredit on the Department by his overall actions and 
conduct. Therefore, Allegation #17 and Allegation #23 are Sustained. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

Baspd on the analysis set forth above and taking into account Officer  
complimentary and disciplinary history, COPA makes the following findings. 

Officer Allegation Finding/ 
Recommendation 

Officer 1. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
 , accused Officer  

detained without justification, in 
violation of Rule 6. 

2. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

detained without justification, 
in violation of Rule 6. 

3. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

failed to properly document interaction with 
in violation of Rule 6. 

1. Sustained 

2. Sustained 

3. Sustained 

186 Resources, "Rules and Regulations of the Chicago Police Department," V. Rules of Conduct, Rule 2. 
187 General Order, G01-01 Mission Statement and Core Values 
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4. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
, accused Officer  

failed to properly document interaction with 
in violation of Rule 6. 

5. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
, accused Officer  

engaged in unnecessary physical contact with 
in violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

6. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
, accused Officer  

engaged in unnecessary physical contact with 
in violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

7.It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

attempted to intimidate in 
violation of Rules 8 and 9. 

8. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

attempted to intimidate in 
violation of Rules 8 and 9. 

9. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
Street, accused Officer  

grabbed and threw on the ground/in 
the street, in violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

10. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
Street, accused Officer  

4. Sustained 

5. Sustained 

6. Sustained 

7. Sustained 

8. Sustained 

9. Not Sustained 

10. Not Sustained 
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directed profanities towards in 
violation of Rule 8. 

11. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

threatened to arrest in violation of 
Rules 2 and 8. 

12. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

struck about the body, in violation of 
Rules 6 and 9. 

13. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

slammed against a cooler, in 
violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

14. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

kicked in violation of Rules 6 and 9. 

15. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

falsely arrested in violation of Rule 
8. 

16. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  
accused Officer  

observed and/or had knowledge of misconduct 
on the part of another Department Member and 
failed to report it, in violation of Rule 22. 

17. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
approximately 1310 hours, while at the  

located at  

11. Exonerated 

12. Sustained 

13. Not Sustained 

14. Sustained 

15. Sustained 

16. Sustained 

17. Sustained 
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Street, accused Officer  
brought discredit on the Department by your 
overall actions and conduct, in violation of 
Rule 2. 

18. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
an unknown time following the arrests of 

and at the  
District Station, located at  
accused Officer entered the 
holding cell and struck about the 
face, in violation of Rule 9. 

19. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
an unknown time following the arrests of 

and at the  
District Station, located at  
accused Officer poked  

in the eye, in violation of Rule 9. 

20. It is alleged that on September 27, 2012, at 
an unknown time following the arrests of 

and at the  
District Station, located at  
accused Officer observed 
and/or had knowledge of misconduct on the 
part of another Department Member and failed 
to report it, in violation of Rule 22. 

21. It is alleged that on September 28, 2012, at 
an unknown time during your tour, at the 
location of accused 
Officer attempted to obstruct a 
Department Administrative Investigation in that 
you went to obtain a copy of the security 
surveillance video from the  

for September 27, 2012, in 
violation of Rule 4. 

22. It is alleged that on September 28, 2012, at 
an unknown time during your tour, at the 
location of accused 
Officer observed and/or had 
knowledge of misconduct on the part of another 
Department Member and failed to report it, in 
violation of Rule 22. 

18. Not Sustained 

19. Not Sustained 

20. Unfounded 

21. Sustained 

22. Sustained 
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23. It is alleged that on September 28, 2012, at 
an unknown time during your tour, at the 
location of accused 
Officer brought discredit on the 
Department by your overall actions and 
conduct, in violation of Rule 2. 

24. It is alleged under oath in Officer  
testimony, on October 21, 2015, at 

the criminal trial of (Case 14 CR 
674-1), accused Officer gave 
false oral testimony regarding the purpose of 
his return to the on 
28 September 2012, in that Attorney asked 
Officer "Was the purpose of you going 
back to the store to obtain the videotape?" 
Officer answered, "No," in violation of 
Rule 14. 

25. It is alleged under oath in Officer  
testimony, on October 21, 2015, at 

the criminal trial of (Case 14 CR 
674-1), accused Officer gave 
false oral testimony regarding when Officer 

recovered the handgun from  
in that Attorney asked Officer  

"So by the time you come back into the store, 
Officer had already recovered the 
weapon?" Officer "Yes," in violation 
of Rule 14. 

26. It is alleged that in an interview to the 
Independent Police Review Authority dated 
March 22, 2016, at 1615W. Chicago Avenue, 
accused Officer gave false oral 
statement regarding the purpose of his return to 
the on 28 
September 2012, in that Investigator asked 
Officer "And,at no point, while you 
were there, on the 28th, did you ask anyone for 
any video?" Officer answered, "No, I 
did not," in violation of Rule 14. 

27. It is alleged that in an interview to the 
Independent Police Review Authority dated 
March 22, 2016, at 1615W. Chicago Avenue, 
accused Officer gave false oral 

23. Sustained 

24. Sustained 

25. Not Sustained 

26. Sustained 

27. Not Sustained 

48 



CIVILIAN OFFICE OF POLICE ACCOUNTABILITY LOG#1057381 

statement regarding physical contact with  
inside the  

near the front entrance, in that Officer  
stated "So, I grabbed him and did a, like a 
takedown, swept under his feet, did a 
takedown, and guided him to the floor. I didn't 
just let him go, or drop him. I guided him to the 
floor to get him to sit down," in violation of 
Rule 14. 

28. It is alleged that in an Arrest Report dated 
September 27, 2012, accused Officer  

affirmed a false written report 
regarding description known at the time to 
establish probable cause for the arrest of  

in violation of Rule 14. 

28. Not Sustained 

VIII. RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE FOR SUSTAINED ALLEGATIONS 
a. Complimentary and Disciplinary History 

Officer has no significant disciplinary or complimentary history. 

b. Recommended Penalty 

COPA is recommending that Officer be separated from his employment 
with the Chicago Police Department. Officer conduct including two sustained Rule 14 
violations for obstructing an investigation into his and conduct, and, trying to 
protect himself and by failing to report the misconduct of in one of the 
more egregious federal prosecutions of a Chicago police officer. In addition, Officer was 
involved in multiple CPD policy violations that included intimidation, multiple detainments 
without justification, unnecessary physical conduct, failure to report, failure to document, 
excessive force and false arrest. Ultimately, Officer conduct brought discredit upon the 
Chicago Police Department, as well as the prosecution of federally. The entire 
incident is documented by security camera and was an embarrassment to the Chicago Police 
Department and taxpayers. Because of the detrimental role that Officer played in the 
incident, and his telling of willful, material falsehoods, Officer should be separated from 
his position as a Chicago Police Officer. 

If recommending a penalty by allegation, COPA would recommend the following: 

• Allegations 16-17, 21-24, and 26, COPA recommends separation from the Chicago 
Police Department; 

• Allegations 1-2, 5-8, 12, and 14-15, COPA recommends a suspension of 30 days; 
and, 

• Allegations 3-4, COPA recommends a suspension of 10 days. 
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A gela Hearts-G ss 
Deputy Chief Administrator 

acie Smith 
First Deputy Chief Administrator 

Sydne ob rts 
Chief Administrator 

.014 .17 

‘70./ 

Date 

Appendix A 

Assigned Investigative Staff 
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Squad#: 

Deputy Chief Administrator: 

,15 

Angela Hearts-Glass 
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